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Q;E'H'OT EXAMINATION BY MR MINTON‘

-

q Mrs~~Arnold you 1ive in Poughkeepsie? A Yea;g

Q And how long have you lived in Pouvhke°psie? AV

.

“gver ﬁ—ce I Was twelvp years old

BY THE . COURT"‘:l

‘?‘

. : : - AN LA
‘Well: how old -are you now? A TForty-thres,

BY MH. MINTON:

Q  Forty-thres? A Yes, eir,

Cyy ,Q,:Do you know the défénd&nt? A Yes, air,

.

~ You will have to speak so that the lﬂet gentleman ‘can
'héar you, - When did you first him? A I mot him in 1893

0 Under what name do youknow him? A Max Chimang.

Q- W111 you state whether or not on September 35th,.1893
you were married to the defendant? A Yee, sir,

THE COURT: Well, that is stating s conolusion of

MR, HINTON: W¥ell, T understand that thére is no
objeotion,

_nR.'SPIBLBERG: . " None at a11'=7 1 oconocede that thia:




‘afson
Q How old is he? A Twenty-tWO years old today
Q How long did ‘the defendant live wiﬁ

'?‘4ﬁ~—&%$hiﬂk—4t~was‘a_litileﬁonen;a_yé'

_Q- 'Then what happened? A He left me.

Q He left you? <A' Yes, sir,

] 'Doryog know where he went to? A No,;eir;i:y
‘4;1%gﬁe§s~he:§§nt—téqurmgﬁ¥ﬁw [,
| THE COURT :.s;riké'oumthat she guessed h
Germany.,' N
BY MR, MINTON:
n- Did YOuéver‘hear'fiom him? A Yes, 'sir.
Did you gst a letter froﬁ him? A Yes ‘éir.f

Q" Have -yeu ot that letter now? A No, I burned. it up.

’Youaburned it upe A Yeé‘ sir., .
Was the letter in hie handvriting? AA.'Yes,'eir.'
Will you state ths oontenta of. that letter?
MR, SPIELBERG:V - Vo, I obJect to that may it pleaee
the'courf. |

_BY THE GOURT: - .

*:gyg you familid} ¥ith hisvpandwriting? A Yes, .sir..

tod R

P




Q No but during the time “that he 1ivpd with you?

el "

-answer).~

T I

THE . C URT You had bet‘l'Pr mm'l‘lf‘v»

mﬁ. MIhTON: 1 will

lived with you? — A Yes B8ir.

And did you know his handwrltlng? K Yes

~

Were you familiar with it? .\ Yea eir.

B

Q And. the 1etter which .you received, Wae that in hi

handrriting? A Yes,'sir;:‘thd% was in his handwriting

BY THE COURT:

Q’ When iid you. recsive it? A {(No_ answer.)

BY MR.- MINTON:
0 What ﬁéie the contents of “hat letter?

MR, SPIELBERG:  That is objected to, may it

. please thé,Court.
THE COURT:. Objection overruled.

VHR.-SPIELBEHG: "1 reespeoctfully exgept,

_BY UR, MINTON:.




,THE,60URTE Ypurhad better qnéljfy"

MR MINTON* T will,

>

lived with you?~!A ‘Yee‘ ﬂir.

Q And did you know hid handwrlting? r Yes sir,

~N

Q Were you familiar with it? A Yea,.eir.

I

@ And. the 1etter which .you received, Was that n his
‘handwriting? A Yeé,’sir;"tha@ was in his handwriting

BY THE COURT:
7 -Ql Whgh iidrydu.receiﬁe i%?} A ﬂNobanéwer;)-
BY MR, MINTON:
Q Vhat were the contents of “hat letter?
MR, SPIELBERG:  That is objected to, may it
’réleaee the Court. »
THE COURT&.V Objeotion overruled.

¥R, SPIELBFRG: ‘I apeotfully exoept

BY MR, MINTON: . ... - NN 8

Q“:Just tell us what was said in that,letfer? A-,He‘aayq




Q When . was- that? A That was
Vent tg~Germany,_ A
e COURT ,VVWell,'strika
ByMR; MINTON'

Q Right zftpr he. leit? ,A,jYEB,_éir.,'

0 Did he say in the 1ettef wheré he was? ‘A It gaid in

 £hef1et£ér, but I forget.
Q Tell, d1id he

O And after th t 3ia you marry ‘a man named Arnold? A “Ye#

Q " How long wers ysu married to:him?

Q: And you'marriedAhih'in what year? In 1906? A Yee

1905 or something 11ke that

Pnughkeepeie?',A Yes, sir,

Q-.-And -you- ﬂever 1eft that City? Ar'Né, eL

} mever heﬁr&ffi9m the dsfendamt? ‘A'fna,véii:f




th ;1etter? A Well

'§ When-wes thate. A That was‘right after k

ki

he went to Gefmany.
..: S THE GOURT Well, strike out that he

‘ByHR. MINTON'

-

Q Right aftar he leit? A TYes, sir, - L.

0 Did he say in the 1=tter where He was? ‘A It eaid;i'

,the 1etter but I forget.
And after that iid you marry & wan named Arnold? A Yes

"How long wers you married to him? A  Eleven-years now,

,; And you married him in what year? In 19057 A Yes,

1905 or somethlng like that

Q And iuring all this time ai’ you live in the City of

Poughkeepeie? ‘A Yes, s8ir, {

And -you- never left that uity7 A \o si;.:

A s, .sir,




L but, alwaye in the samg street J
BB MR MINTON: . o .
Q “From the time.the defendant Lsfy you until now,

nave aIWﬁ“‘ItVéﬂfif—Unlon btreet? K xes, s1r.

_VBY THE COURT:

\‘.'-

- » 0y

Q Where else did you live,in Unidn Sfrept?v A About £o

housés

from the house whioh I now live in..

T

Vell, iid ysu live on the s&me block in Unlon Street,'

T ‘,—Q‘
within

sir. . - !

1

the same block? A Yee

'

'..Q ‘Is that & rﬁsid ntial seotion ox a busineas seotion?

A A bueinesm section,

¥hers jo you 1ive? A Right above the business,

Does your husband conduct any buaineas? A Yes, sir;

business, & butoher market, -

’

before you were married to Mr, Arnold, dii you live

-butchgr

Q'.Ahd

in the-same bullding?- A No, eir; I lived right aoroces the

street,

R

! ' - @ Wad there any store under your apairtment? A Now,rat‘
brebent? .
, -0 No, at that time? A No, there wasn't,, .

An1When'you lived with the &efendan§VWas he engaged in

buﬁinese there? A No,

v

'

he‘wua not,

IRV RS

A e o 10r - b s e w2 i e e




CROSS EXANINATION BY MR SPIELBERG‘

Q " How old was your huaband when he married you, do you>

.

('know7 ;Ai I guess I was about nineteen betWeen nineteen and

twenty and he wae about twenty-one or twenty—two.

Q What was he doing et the time for a living; do-you’

remember? A He Waa,working'inthe Buckeye, A
—_—

Q WorkinL in a maohine faotory? A Yee eir.,

8] Before he mwrried you you head known him for some time

rad you noﬁf.;Ae>I didn't kno him very long,

R You knew him a short time? A Yes, sir.

- .
.

Q He wau all alone in. this country, wes he not? A

think so,

»

0 You didn't know any of his folks® -A Bo,

¢

Q And af ter you‘were marriee about & year or 80, he left?

LA
A Yee eir. .

-

Q And you never paw him agoedin until-yoﬁ aawv




‘jmadam knew you as RELY Chimang, for the last ten yeare? A‘f

the whole neiyhborhood knows me .,
iw \

Q. Wo, But o they. know you as MNrs, Afnold3 Mra. Chiﬁan

“or Miss Wendt? A They knew I was a miBB Wenat bbfore I wasv

married, and they knew me as Chiméng'and,as Arnold.

f But you haven't gone uhder ‘the name of Chimang for the

ten or éleven yeaie?r A No, sir.

Q No lettdrs ever oume to “you as lrs, Chih&hg?

Q_,Hoﬁ many-years ago was it that letter wes written

you have spoken of? A Oh, that =« _“' good many &eaiéf'

o Imedlately after he left? A Yos, 'sir.‘ , )

Q@ And’ you haven't the 1etter with you? A Wo, sir.'

Q‘-And you are eimply rclylnb on 4our Hem ory as to the




~

ago? A, Yee, Bir.. - B i

. Q Now, dia you believe this'defendsnt dead when.y

I-hadn't-_heard nothing fro:

.

... Q TFor what périod of years? A Well, for around ten years

"1 hadn't heard anything sbout him, - .

Q Foi‘aioundrten'yearé'yoﬁshadﬂ't heardlénything.aboﬁf

. him? A Yes, sir. £¥° ,"ff‘% : o ' :

o

- Q You didn't know whether he was alive or dead? . No new
of any-kind reached you? A 'No,

Q Did you during those years grite to him? A No, I

couldn't.

Q Did anybody in ycur femily, as far as you know, write

‘to him? A Not as I know Of,

Q You'dop'p know of anything of that kind? A No, sir, :

.

Q You don't know where he was during all these years?

No, I didn't know,

Q And the, firet time you sew hir again was in the Courtt

Yes, -sir, - o

THE COﬂBT: Do you'medn‘in this Court?

.. MR, SPIELBERG: Yee, sir, .




.. MR, SPIELERRG:

¢

. BY MR, SPILEBERG:

Q Is your npthéi'li%ing?—rh No,'

ago, in March., -

Q - In'gjarch, 19127 A Yés, sir.

‘Her name was Nrs, Wehdt; was it not? A Yes, sir.
et ) ATy

-

Do -you remember when she died? A - It was. the 17th o

19187 A Yes, sir.
 Qf,DidAyou ever ﬁéaerf this défendant coming to Péugh:
kEebsieé A I heard éf_iﬁ, but e h&dﬁ't_eeen‘him; |
7 When dis you hear of it? - A,,fhat wes two years agb

o -

'
1

Q: That's the;ﬁifet time you heard of 1t? A Yes, sir.
Q. Did you hear that he had made inquiries asg to whether

you were alive or dead? A 'Weil,,our dominie was telling ue;f;
I didn't know it,

Q - The dominie told you'about 4t? A Yes, sir,

0 DPid you hear about lis marrying =gain?- A Only what -

R IR °
* 1 8ee in the papers, ,

Q- Ohly recently? .A Yes, sir,




'BY MR, SPILEBERG:

@ mey

iv

WR. YANTON: ° Objeoted to, - -

R S
PR 'THE'COURTI Suetained, One moment

MR. SPILEBERG: Why, 1 Just desire to~f1nd out [

the defendanﬁ came to be 1ndicted

' THE COURT _Under oertain ciroumstanoee théﬁgueb

is a. proper one to be answerea by the witness 'buf th

point is did:-you ‘ask it for theqpur 080, of showing any,

gnimuszagainet the defendant? If not asked on that;

ground-it is immaterial,

‘MR, SPILEBERG: I think I have the right to show ithe

disposition of the witnese towards him,

BY THE COURT:

- JQ And you ansWered the subpoenh, is that right? A Yes,

eir;

.. BY MR, SPILEBERG , o

-

Q You aidn't o to the Distriot Attorney a

” L - s

O Were you subpoenaed to come lere madam? A Yes,veir.v




Q Now when the deiﬁndaniklefx_youT_dia—h

SR

frpm you, Mra. Arnold? S didn ¥ have anything to ake:awa

Q You were a poor girl? A Yes “ei r,'

, poor ﬁo;kingboy,,a maohinisﬁ"iﬁ

lefto A Yee sir. ‘ o o

REDIREQT EXAMINATION:BY NR. MINTON:

Q -Now, you sdid, in answér to ccunsel's questiona;.fh.

k)

youhea&d he had Goue brok to Poughkeepsie, that the dominie’

Yes, sir. -

When did he come back there? . A About two years ago

told you thatp A

CQ

Q And what did the bominie say that he had core ‘buck for?

A Only to see his Bpn; he éaid.

- .Q And did you’receive Any noney from him for your son,

for the support of your son, @r yonr eupport 'while he wap

o aWay? A .-No, sir, ned%r

- . . .

Q Did You say th¢t you»hAu.reoeived but one 1etter from

i
)
)




© MR, MINTON:  She s@,%ébfjg;e

THE. COURT: . Yes, she 8o testified

B

THE‘CQURT: VVery well.

Q ﬁy Mr. Arnold? A Oh, no; not by hm Arnold

have no children by him,
Q But evmrybody in the mneighborhood knew that*youvﬁefé

“living with ir. Agnold as husband and wife for thé'iaéf ten

yedis? A Yee, sir,

Q And you wers married by a clergymah to Mr;,Arnold?

A Yéa,.sir.

: And is the clerﬂyman alive? A Yes, sir,

" - And you were ‘ivin& openly with him as man and Wife?

s Yes, sir. Lo
o N -

o} And Arnold 19 in busineee in Pcughkeepaie? A Yee

e

And eVéiybody knew-ydu a0 livina with him as hie wife




~R“o s'ﬁ  '4‘,'0 BRIEN,

called in behalf of the People being'duly”éwdrni
tified’as follows. ‘ -
| DIRECT EXAMINATION BY HR. WINTON:

_Qgiﬁ;e{'O'Brieﬁ;'may I aékrhoﬁ old you éié?fiAf’Eért§
_aeven} o : |

You Will have to speak loud, so that- the laat gent man

" oan hear you, - And your home is in Albion New- York? 'A"
_sir,

Q And how far is Albion from Rochester? - A Thirty~thr

miles;

Q You will have to spesk up louder, madam, Do ydﬁ:know

the defendant? A Yes, sir, //“

o You say yeo? A Yes, o
Q" And whe£? did you fi#etAmeet:nim? h” In Lookpoiﬁg
Q- In Locgbort, New York?IlA,'?ea;:s;r. o

Q Ho* iong;aéo? LA Abput three and a half;yeais‘ago;_

Q That was in 1913? A Yea,uair. .

*




QV”Aﬁd banhét;déte?. A ﬁovembér}i4th.

T

Loudon.

the clergyman who=married you (indicating)? A Yes fair

Q Where were you married?

_ THE couanv Te there any objeotion to this testimon

i ‘MR, SPIELBERG: . No, sir; none

THE

QOURT: Do ycu comnocede, Mr, Spielbefg,’fhat'thij

defehddnt mexried Mrs. O'Brien in November, 1912, at

Albion, New York?

_WR. SPIELBERG: I do oonoede that he mairied this

lady, at “that time.

¥R, MINTON At thut the marriage vas performed by

. ne

the Reverend H. C. Woods? — -

- MR. SPIRLBFRG: gir; that is conoceded.

" BY MR, MINTON: o .
Q Wil you tell us \uat whut he “pedd about hia name?

e ",i Lt HR,;SPIELBERG: That ia objeoted to us imuaterial

T

A ’ may'it,pleaeé the Court, I object to it, - o o

THE COURT;

I think the evidence 1is admissible,




THE COURT*) That is’ true.

~IT you ask me to- .atate the reasona

MR“‘SPTELBERG

Bhe may answer the queetion.

BY MR.~MINTON:

Q Will you tell us what he said about hie name? A

don't remember him saylng anything about his name.

Q Well, did he tell you who he was? A Nothing more tha

’

he was Nr Loudon.

Q Did he tell you whether or not he was & Count? A Ye

Q Did he tell you sbout his title? A He said he was'a
Count, but he-was not wearing his title,

Q He az2id he tas a County, but he was not wearing his

-title? A Yés fsir.

0 Now do you remember signing the affidavit to your

license to marry? A Yes, sir,:

@ Now I show you a certified copy.and'aek\you to look at

.

the questionsrwhibh;were propounded to:you;-dnd,statéd whe thex .

or not you anuwered the questiona oorreotly. Did you? (regda) 

A Ygs,_eir. - )

Q Did you say thate. A ,Yeésréir,

SHRATEA TS ERIT I v s




of his marri&gee? I No I don't remember that

MR, MINTON: I offer in evidence a oertified

the application for the mdrriageflicense,Aahd*the mayrri
liqenée.

MR, SPIELBFRG: I object %o that as immaterial

THE COURT: Sustained.  You have got to oconfron

him with the witness, to produce fhe'witneeé;

MR MINTON: T will withdraw the offer for the 41!
being.

MR, MINTON.

Q -NOW'did you

Vmahrand #ife? A
Q Where did you live? -A. In my home,
@ And how ‘long-did you live together in your homeg?

A Well e, Loudoh was avay considerable,
+Q He was away consilerable? A . Yss, str,

Did he tell you what the pature gf_%ig_b@sineee was

4R, SPILEBFRG:




Vw'long d d he‘oontinue'to.
.%:MR SPILEBERG: ,,objeoted

THE OOURT T w111<allow

much,

" BY THE COURT'

'camé_hqme.everyvtwo or three’weeks;

BY MR, MINTON:
Q Well, when did he atop coming home every tao or three
ﬂﬁgeks? A A couple of years 850,

Q That was in 1914? A Yea, sir,

This time?

Q 'Up to the time that he was arrested on this charge?

Yes, I have oeen him,

Between the time that he left you -and his arreeﬁt;

‘A . Yes, I had seen hiw,

¥

q qu, O'Brien you were m"rried before you met thia,

' : - '

deféﬁd&nt?- A Yes, sir,




Q Wha*? A Factory busineas’: ”7 :‘

to ﬁééf_?ou. rYouWafe'iIVIﬁé ina little_city called Albion

A Yes eir.

fendant, your husband who wa.s in the factory busineae?

A?Y
sir, |
Did ydu know what kind éf a factory he hadi ”A_
Did.ygp visit his faétory? ;A No, sir.

Never went to his factory? A WNo, sir.’

o o & &

‘Nid you: know where the faoto;y,wés?, A Yes,

Yhere? A In Fort Erie. : N A

Q

married you, did you? A VWo, sir,

o Anq_hp.didn!t'ask you fdr'any money? A No, sir,

.t L . ’ ) L
o . Q' There was no mdney consideration attached to this .
\ : o . Ny - ' . !

marriage, was there? A No, siy, )

R Simply a matter: of friendship between yourself an the




T IN T Y il RLE e R I G A e i e,

'time,'yOufmﬁfried,him?

. Q And you were

has appeared in Court? A Yes, sir.

“n
g9

him that he waa a WidoW? A Yee.:

Q Did he te11~you *nwt he was married on'
City of Poughkeepsie? A— Well):he told me,he=ha&,‘
once before: i déh;t remember fhat he toldrmeA&h
-married. ‘
BY THEACOURT;
o Did_hq,teli_you that he WJB‘B widower? A }es,'ei:.;
And you understood then wbwt_th 1t torm meant , dig’ you
‘not? A Yee, eir.
BY MR, qPIFLBER
iiﬁé?_«A-NYeaymsimqkﬁ
And he tbld you he was a'widower?. A Yes, sir,

And he told ydu that his wife had di?ih in plain Eng-

»1ish? " A Yes, sir.

Q And you beli%ved thgt,}iid you,hot? A Yes,

And you married him in the.State of New York? A Yéa,ai#




“And yoy have kA Tamily ih‘ﬁlbi@nj*ﬁew;¥crk?’~A:‘Tfhav

You have sisters? A Yes, sir,

2. AndAyOUand your husband,'you and he, Wére 1}v1ng_pbéniy

‘a8 huaband and’ wife in- the City of Albion New Tork? ™

, )
Q Excepting during the time that he was. in the faotory

at Fort Erie? A Yes sir.

Q' Ani during the time of your marriage he supported you

%0 the best of his ability? A Well, I.don't know about VHH%

n

"Well, he didn't make very much money, didhe? A " No,

h Q‘LAnd you khew that, too, and_you'didh't marry him for

, ) Cokae

tis money, did you? A Wo, .sir,

S ”moneyTW A ‘Yes, 1 dig, after I waé
SR (R D O O

Tmarried,’ T YT "

. o
.

k3

Did you zive him any money before. youvere married?

7

EY

- Not a cent? A No,_aif.

YquWére not a rich 4 ;ixn,ﬁwerg'yog? “A No;.air(;
Did- you make any inquiries..about his first wife,

how
L o




o Bir,

e 's'i'mply;tolld' you, "I wag Married onde Before,

piadt §

VVQ_ That is a1l “he said to you? A;;Xee’“éif}'i'

Q Did you«comé to'Neﬁ York County,énd mége.a~6dmp ainy

ageinst-this defendant? S

MR, MINTON: I object to that ds inmaterial

THE COURT: —What is your-objéct in askingltﬁehques
tion? Is 1%t for the purrose of offfing that neither
. Awifelm&de a complaint? ' ‘ .

MR, SPIELBERG: Yes, sir, . -

THE COURT:  That is immaterial. ~The State of -New

has the right to make the conplaint,

¥R. SPIELBERG: T know that very well, But. who

and sailil scwething to the titaté of New York?
{adeit v e g A 2 b AR T 0, 3 Findl

¥ G §

Ohhtheaqueutibn of the ®eight and oyedibilif§ to be giyep‘

to the testimony of the witness) .that oot may be consider

fad by the jury, For'eXawple, if tile witness, solely

v .

for the putpose of'aeektng':evengé,hhﬂ»1hstitﬁtgd tﬁig .

.




District Attorney or myself

/

this man oame to be indloted Whén:heither'woman, aS»tn

strike 1t out, A
" THE COURT: - Yes, strike it out, ,and. the. jury Wi
diéregard it. B

MR, SPIFLBERG:

cn frieﬁdly terme with your husbaﬁd<§i§ht

n You have Qeen
- - ’

alon@,_ub to today? A Yes, sir.

REDIRFCT EXAYINATION BY MR, meTon-"

2 Counsel asked y»u if-you gave any money to'the~de—f

fenfant snd you s1id yee? A Yos sir, after we v

'Q'~Wom much monny di: yéu zive himv

qn.s?IELBch;- I object to that,




any money and she said ‘no, not before the mar {ag

him a cent 10 1nauce im to marry her

/\ - . N
THE COURT: —~_But she, le,ter, gave hin money?

MRy ,}LINT_CLN: = IesT,sir,ﬁA

BY MR, MINTON:

» -

Q Howfmuoh money dii~ycu glve him? A I shouldijﬁdge

sbout 3, oou*le of thousand ddllaré,
Q\\ Did you ¢

A At ﬂ»’iffe.r-e.‘nt times,
Q Counaéllasked\ycu if he ver By portea ycu and you said

"I don! 't know about thatt., ’ Did he ever oqntribute anything

RTINS

“to yony aupport Qa.itcr you mv.rried him? A”

Telx, ho muoh? A

'
‘@ little, . .-
" i It'ﬁe;e V'e-r'y Littll'e, wag 1t? ATH v@ae’n'_tvery_ xmloh.

2.2 Now you say that you kne"’ that he had = fxctory in

Erie.’ You meraly knac that bcoauae le tojri you? A Ye&,

o . |}




living with himi‘ A No, sir;
Q. Did he tell you hOw long
A No, sir,

Q Did he mention her name? A No

¢  Did he tell you that he had deserted his first wife?'

A No, sir, : : - A - -

‘Q In other words, he simpdy told you that ha had had a.

“firet wife? A Yss, sir,

Q  Did.ybu get'any money from your alater to glve him?

¥R, SPIELBERG: Objeoted to &s irrelevant,

immatarial ani'iqcompetent;

AR

N

And*ail that you kna: W about hia 3nteo=tenta,'tha§ is,
. was )
what he hxd baen doinu before y,u me & him /Whpt he had told

you himself? A Yea, air,

f




o But “he. didn't p%y a1l of it ba aok? A No, sir.

Q He paid you back after hia arraat, didn't he? A Yesis

REYV EREND 'HENRY ¢, - WO0OD g\”

New York, a witness called in

duly sworn, tzstified as}folldws}

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR.. MINTON:

Q Mr. Woods, what is your ocoupation? A Clergyman,

A'clergyﬁ§n where? £ Albior;"New Yofk,

In what.dsnbminatipn? A Methodist Eplscbpal,
Did you -sze the lastAwitneae on_ the stand? A . Yes,

pid you mdrry her td the'defendant? A I did.

You heard her say
A Yes, -eir,’
@ And 444 you pronouncs ‘them man and wife? A I did,




,gemember‘it_ that 15” the ccntents

firet “or seoond marriage? A I don't reoolleot that;

"Q"What namerdid'he “give y@u?_fA/ MngPaulngudoﬁ.

CROSS. EXAMINATION BY MR. °PIFLBFRG'
Q  You knew Mn? O'Brien very wall in your home{
aidnlt you? A Yes .sirj she belonﬂed to my Churoh

Q And she 1ival thbre-with her family,.‘r

A Yes sir,

Q And you knew that she was going to marry the.defeﬁdan

vefore she marri®d him? A WNo, eir; .I-didn't. She Simione

me to-her house andt I merrisl them 5n the same day.

REDiRECT EXAMINATION BY MR.VMiHTﬂN:

How often iii you 8e8 the ie;an“ant in Albion after: th

fthink tﬁat'I met them dn,the etregt, ani hp

- - . + Lt

her onoe,
(The Court admenished the, 8y 1nj£6qordaﬂoe ﬁ;th;‘

Baotibn 415 and. took @ raoess unsil 3:15°P, M, )"




Q'

A Yés,

0
A Yes,

Q

. _whethar

nf

being duly 8worn, testified a8, followe‘
DIRTOT DXAMINATION BY HR MINTON:

of fhe Dépar

of October;

riage with a woman camed Minnie Yondt?

: 0

. 'THE COURT:

Mr;-Baker you are the Aseistant Division Superinte e

sir,

Do you recall the time vhen the defan&ant was ary gted

811‘.

Were you pressnt at the time? A Yes, sir,
Can you tell us the date he was arrested? A The 13%
£ . - N - ! N

1915; last yéar. S

yithout stating any convergation, will you at&te

certain quaations about ‘his mar

or not you askel him

A Yes, s8ir.

Wov what 4i3 he say about his marriage to Minn;éQandt

syoupquestion and:onl

‘fgin&@

e

- IR .

I object to that unleass ther

NH. SPIELBERGE

were

preliminary statemenﬁa.hy the offrcer,.wdrninglhim

his right, and thzt he was und Br urreet - )

The; ia no de oialon in thevState,




BY ¥R, AMINTON"

Q; Just_axate what he-said ’his answers in reply to the

[

‘Poughkeepsie a woman hamed Mina or Minnle Wenit and th 3 he

lived W1th her until after a- son was born, and then he left e

Poughkeepsie and ade inquiries conoerning hie wife, and that

" butoher and that he also learned that his son was. 1iv1ng‘in

Poughkeepsie,

Q Did he -szy where hg»madé thoae inquifies? A ﬁe eaidf

ﬁhaxiha had dallé 4 at the Ghurch where he bad beon marriud

: 'mnd had talked to the minister thure.e .That it wasn't the same-

'Miniéter‘%ho had married sim, but s new Minister,
Did you also ask him questions odncernihg hia marriage

i

to a woman named Rose O'Brien? A Yes, str.

t

And did you maks answer to your quénfiona?_ A Yea,‘slx;:"




he didn'ﬁ marry her,”

timeeiand Blept with her, End oame away, _ Shortly after tha

..gr‘ar  that he marrigg;hg;4_¥__f
THE -COURT:

Strike out that he admitted

BY MR, MINTON: . -

Q- He stated to.you that he had m&rriéd-hex,idid-hef'

;A Yes, éin;

Q What iid he eay-about that? A . He sdid that he had

known her about two months, and that she wanted”to—be marri d

‘and that they were married at her fibme ih Albion by the Rev

Henry Clay woods.

Did he say how long he lived with her? A He said h

never lived with her, that he only visited her for a night or
. two; svery week or 8o, and went back again;'

°ubeequent—%e-¢g° aefon\ant's inlictment

will you atate

\ Cs

that waa pending against him? A He did —

g V11l you tell me what he naid.fo youf‘,A He told me




‘case _ut f‘the way,'

eaoh of‘a eubpoena e

Q Did he say where they Were? A He told

'A—O'Brien_woggL w g;_n Canada~' that he had aenthar ther

some $1500 had been sent to her attorneys at Roohester New

~York, in oonsideration of mhich he wa.s to remaln away un i

cage here was dropped.

Q- Did he makn any statnment ta you with reepeot t’

and Mz, Adama your assistant being witnesses against him in:

the bigamy case, and if so, what did ‘he say?

Tee TN .'SPIELBERG:' "I object to that 38 immaterial

irrelevant and inoompetent

THE COURT:

I will allow the evidences, Objeoéion 

overruled,

e . V MR, SPIRLBERG: I respeqtfdiiy exocspt,

o

e did.. I o

BY MR, mmou:' . -

R What 4idhe e&y# A He stated to e, or rather he told

:

me that he wanted me to use my inf]uenoe with the Distrioet

Attorney to have the case droppel that he 140 paiing moneyi

, toAhté gttérneyé) and he..felt certain that they'&sreﬁnbtvdofng




IMINTON 1 think, when gouf sar 1t all"it Wil

‘e competent 1. will coneent ‘that" it be strioken,out

if it is not. 00mpetent However, I‘will withdraW’that

question for the present

THE COURT Strike out the evidence and - the jury ar
to give 1t no weight or oonsideration whatever

BY MR MINTON :

; ;ﬁgll‘ybu state whether or not, l'r. Baker, at the time

you ad - bhe*ﬁonvereations that you have testified o, Mr. Adams

youp"&ss: taﬁt,‘an agent of the Department of Justice, was

present?: £ He was.

CROSS EXAMINATIWN BY ¥R, *SPIELBFERG:

You are not a policeman, are you? A
Not-a police officer? A No, sir,
Not an officer of this County? A

e £} You have nothing to jo with brinbinw thie bigamy oaae,

»

iid you? A Oh, I don't know, That's rather a bréad-queaau

tion -1 oouli explain it,

. Pid you have ,nything to Jdo with bringing thie bigamy

-oage on? A Yes,




- . . - - . -

offenae? A No sir.

q This man was never oonvioted as f&r

—

ateslGovernment oharged Wlth any Federal. ffens

was he? A “Not that I know. of

tﬁat? 7
MR, MINTON: I objeot to that,

‘of law,

‘Sustained,

“THE COURTY

" notice of our own laws,

MR. SPIELBERG: that is so.

Yes,

BY MR, SPIELBERG:

oailed &t his home?

o .' - ¢ Yest A I did not.

) The first %ime you mst him was @fter,he

A The niéht of his arresk, . -

Q'-Did you make the arrest? £ I did nat,
-~ Wers you th:te when he'wag arrgoted?. A

'

Q Bigamy is purely a State foenée, is it'nbt?

We will take

Q Did you ever. mect this defendant before the:‘

A  Before he was arrested?

- 0 Whersz dia ybu méet nlm? A” At his.home,




juet why L was, thsre. '
Q At’that time was ther
%%eraAwas—an—iﬁves%%g&%ieﬂ
:Q; And you verﬂ following up that investigation

Q' And you didn¥t flndseuffioient evidence to &rrest th

defendant? A I was not there for the purpoee of making"an

,arreﬂt,
o You never aid arreét him did you? A I did notu
Q You nevsr oh&rwea hinm with any offense avainet the
Federal Government, did you? A i diﬂ not, ' I eimply -
W  You were 1nvest1gat1ng‘it, is that the tdea? A I
moré than fhat,f' ;'was present on the night of his arrest:;

to take from him a paseport whioh ie had eeoured and

alag a passport he hai secured for --




.QA‘And did ycu tWAe t”oc pggere”awayjffomfﬁim? Yoz

no? A Pe 3tQuPd e

« -

- 0 I didn*t as” y"u +“6+ _ (Qu23£16n'repaat

take rwm,;no- "

rOj'You iln'* tnke tuem from him? A Bo.

0 Az & result o’ yﬂuf inveatigetion as an agent.of'the
Departmené,of Juatige;,u’tar ycu h“d met thia mqn, did }ou
arféét-him, éhﬂrgin* him 7ith an Ty c’fensa against the Qépartmdnﬁ
of-Justice—of'ghavUnited vafes Go&ernhaﬁt?:Ye§ or no? A ilwa

simpiy ——

0 Vee or no? A No.

Q ; net- belrg able tc w~kes any charge apgeinst him}

fer n3 the.Federnl Qevarnmernt wos o“ncarrcd you took upon
yoursel? to halp nlong in the. bigmmy 0288, did yecu not? AiIkdid

nota.
'abjected'to. Roewsver, it {2 anewered

e g e S

*ﬁ”“YP@ heve— beﬁn*pr*Bﬁr%“¢&*fﬂ““f¥t—Ge“*‘al‘*imp° bhat

iefena 0t . L:e becn nxia isncd ;n_qvu1t, h‘Vﬂ‘ycu nz 7

i o7 .

ﬁ irthinkn thio io the third .time I ses him here.

Q@ Yes, And you Leove tzen inconsuls Slen tith

Atto:hei»ﬁs'te‘tha';rcdedure'ig




f&fm;—eﬁtirely;

N

. e COUDT°- Iwild “Tlow: tna queation.

BY MR. SPIFLBERGY - o e

Is it not_g feet thot you 't614 the “;

Jugh what to de in this case? A I did hot, S

0 Is it nctr9 fect th:t, befbre' Aking any m»v in tnis

Qasergt all the Pistri t Attorneyvpcneultcd v'un you, and

cbtcin d.- y ur approval? L When you soy the

Ade ycu;meﬁn_;r, ¥inten? : S - ’

Pistriot A»torue

i

Distrigt ftternsy in enc rge, T,

T51ll, you ve-

thet w28 nade mgoingt {Lis wen? It o ok

, province;wes 147 4 Mo, cir, nct offiscially. - . ’
. O Yo, neY oCToan fesat A€ tL- crtasnt ©f Justice?

20 You sty tlie

Ld-ht V"luﬂu"uluu tais dnlc

te yeu? P In rrevwer e ;uaéticna.

© 0 A% thet time ne e rrrioted, woa i

vae r}c‘ﬁ“ L T : ~ o e




there no%? A There was not.

Q on,

you firet talked with hiw? P Bighte.

A But there wes & warrant cut for him &t thit

-

snxrent? A Yes, sir,

Q VWas he lbcked up'ﬁithout'd

went with him. - , " -

‘0 Whe locked him up? A A detective attached to the

Diatrict»Attorﬁey’S'offioe;

" Q Detective Fusso? k Yes, sir.s:

£ And hg wint te the defsndant's homs? A Yes, sir; and

Q Ard who 41d ths telking? A Mr. Adaus, A apsoiel agéhf

2ud myself.

N Aal yeow

11 Mim 23 the o Sime that you-osms.

*Leve 0 arrest him for bigemy? ; Ko, sir, I told him thet

I comz te gct from him > pissport, anid o pésppo:t that hei

goet for nis third wife.

L Dil you gat the third wife elso? A She wis prséent{aA

in the Lruzt. S oo

: TLF CCUNT: One memsnts Altheush tlis was biought cut

. e

en drees crtminatiin, etrike cui ﬁﬂytpin@ atout tha

- . ]

tre jury iall «isregord.it. The evideuce ie. -

N

*owife} rnd

© lpocnpetant. , » ~

-

-

P

Q Ygggwﬁﬁt{x-ﬁ?:,iﬁf e purpcaa CI mRRiN sd'a

-




~.!-take frch Lim the prssports thot

L,wﬁ*-MIﬂTan:’Ndh

the féesoné why you wont there.”

<

A Tor tre purpcsP ¢f taking from_him tWé%p&Sspcrtés'

Detective Russo: weqtrthtre,fcf Y ﬂ‘purpeee of- arreating

-~

him on & cherge of bigamy. At thet time
2% I heve menticnéd§;

EY-(?.;~PIFLED’G:

there to’iook}

0 Oh,»you kﬁew that,RﬁBBO vas goeling

him up cn s cherge of bigamy? .| Ye:

0 irte his room, 3id you 461l “im they

Lew- s grirs %o Lo srreet T On o chorgs of bigemy? A

redsll $ime 01 no4. I knov

- precsesded 1 cwith Liw,

the

$¢14 bim thit le-zas ohoige
”'fnd Lc 22 Rusec -i.ol Friw st
~big&my? e
- Miyou $0ld hiim- the
Justice, Jid youmos? )

Q And this vpe




"then_he said that. h h.‘d merried her.

‘there for that purpose.

Did Russo arrest Tim? A He'w;s

a.boy? A AL Ffirast e did.
Q Diﬁ vnu 50 etete in 5cu“ 2 'Cuk ehamirotinn “or’ nut? A
den't kne thesher T 44 or net. T mlgh :19'7"
Spieiberg.
| Q Yo.- QneAmqmsnh. Lidn't you t; t1ly, ‘= moment &gu,

2drect exzmineticn, th-% th defeniont toli you that

one Mincde cr ¥ine *Uendd, when heowe: a bey? A Yea.
feny thetv Le anrrisd Yer? A Yes, -in thie begine

~ % cfiﬁin‘lly,~:oodrding te your varsioh, this

rricd ¥inrds Tendt? A At first, yes.

Piz yiu' ¢ .:“yth¢n % 211 td‘persu&$e Lim thel bs aid.

:ﬁgrf A i'égmply>ﬁzvp'him-lﬁ

WA ke 'erdd tion, "Thet ge

- -




- QAud dddn't he tell.you that ha hed merried ¥

_‘"%A Yes, gffér ha hnd firss denied 1o

- § 1And you ha3

you?r A Yes, I had.

Q" ‘And yéu had.ncthing tc d0 withvﬁ

all? A No,.sir. . o . -

Ve e gem .
> e wia by CH:

RE-DIRECT EXANINATIO

Q You were ssked Licw rou ceme tc bring the complaint .’

to the District Atberniy's office. Now, will yeu tell us-hoi

‘t,.yau,came te bring ths compl
" : 3 C1
© Ffice? . . : L

. NP, SPIPLTTTC: I e

te. thot.

S UPLMITTON: T will wilhdrew Yo question
. ' ) form, _ - ‘ .
 “@ Ccuneei sskéd yru ‘h-other ey nct;youwweye,at thev }
' ’ Sefuhdant'a htyéé,fAr the rhrposé‘cf
- Lkhz;hgf? qé{? thrt vou were ﬁct.'Thét is cerrech, ls it nod? -
h X s e - . . . . .
A Yeg, sir. . B - o o
- n Néw, &efcrg veéu went te she iefqﬂitnt;s,héuee, ﬁqﬂAyout
7 . meen ﬁ;é%?IEEi}jtgxney Perkirat A ?Lé; e
: 0 Aad bl yeu o te3 to Lim wh-tiver [¥foris tom
3t AYeas v L 'l'f : - "'ﬁ
: T o . ‘ ST e
t/J ' '. 7 . SN ey



hen he eaid

0 And hg also to1d yeu

Pf.'A>Yeé,’sifa;

Q ° And did you thereupon heve him

~there for that-purpose.

'Q Did Pusso srrest Iim? A He wis erreceted tiatinighﬁ‘

yes, eir. .- : T

Authat he>had ménried;hef.

thet he hed merried Xre. Wends

iééidLﬁthihe wes. ot merrie

I

+

0 Ti4 he evsr deny tLet he morried Miss Wénﬁﬁ,Awheqfhé

& boy? A At first he 3id.

© Did ycu so stete in ycur firvect examiretion or netd’

ddn't krew vhether I 313 or not. I might Sleer it up, Mr.:

Spiclberg. - ;, : ’

Q Wo.  Oune nom:nt. Didn't you s

2drect examihtﬁicn, th-t the defeni-nt told ycu thot L

cne Mincde cr diina Tendt, whin he. w:

L: feny thet ke

- " And -iis

LETYLS

T thoy

'

¢ Did yiullc cnything - b 1lli:c

lrry Lexr? A iié}mply;‘iv;-him I

eise, ond ke 'sndd then, "Thit 4

o

cricirelly, ccoording

crrand dinnd e Yendt? A At

ily, = woment ago,
%4 &
a bey? A Yea,

ter? A Yes, -in tle begin

t¢ your version, this

fifst, yes.

parouesle Lim

thet he Qid

1 nemen

ini oeverything

-




3

then he.gaill that he had

merried hers - o -

©- . 0 And he-alse told yeu thaf.he hﬁd mérr;e@JMfég

sl -

Q ‘VAhd~d1diyoﬁ,théreup6n hgve‘himj&x:estéd?~A,Ifw 8

LA
L

here for that purpose. - B o P

'Qr Did Fugso crrest Lim? 2 He w;a'axrested t%at{nigh

yes, eir. . ~ S o e
0 Did he ever deny SLet he married Miss Wéngﬁ,bﬁhen

.~

a . boy? A AL first Le did.

L ~© Dii ycu 80 eirte in your

do'n't krer vhether 1 41d or nev.

© Spislberg. - _ . -

| , " Q No.© Cne mqmsﬁb. Didntt yr@ teStify,'ﬁiﬁomant égb;
lirect 5xﬁmihsﬁicn, ﬁhﬂt the‘defehiﬁnt:tolj'ycurthqtihé
i cne Minnié cr Mina menib, Whin he.wes a bey? A Yéa.'
© U~ A 383 be lemy Bhet he anrried her? A Yes, in
. oo 0t Wit crifinelly, coverding Yo your vereicn, shis
' ieﬂ:éd ot Erlcdfliﬁnié endt? A Aprfirsf; yeéi
- Lia -";c;;pything g ‘il e pgrsi&de Lim thet
- . wemny By 4T elmply prvs hiw Lnnes 5 evoryihing -
3 . ,W‘d l‘c ;Sr,id ’:iwﬁ, ".Th?:t, 1o i‘iéj.?}t'.‘f! 7 , . ) ‘



- QAnd didn't he tell you thet hs had marrie

Yes, sfter he had firet denied it/
2 And ybul; 3-ell thése:detes at ycui’fingéif nd@,

Aypu? A Yes, I had.i
Qr' ,Ana you hed ncshing te do with ths bigamy oharge &

- 8117 A No, -sir. S
RE-DIREQT EVANINATIOK BY ME. dIN7CH:

Q You were ssked Leow ‘ou ceme bt bring the ocomplaint

to the Dietrict Adtcrney te of fice. How, will yeu

oy you ceme tc bring k-
W1 oot T

NP, OPITLTITC:

AT

o MIUTORY I will wishlraew e queation in th

o~
form,

@ Ccunsel ssked yru "h-sher =y net you w at thz

" . - - 1 i ) N B
»ldefendznt's hruse For tle pur oEe‘cf srraifing him for bigemyy
us=. posE < : Ys

coend e acdiA thet Yy weve 1ot Thod is cerreod, 1s 1t nod? -

t¢ the-defrimnt's hcuos,
arkirg ¥ M Vg, -

Aunderted to Ldm wh-isver infedmeiic




Q Did you, =fter talking to the iefendant,;viéitf%ﬁd

"DiefiictJAﬁfﬂrﬁéy's offioe? A I'hal ecen Mr. Porkins prior

Q And 41d you see Mr. Perking after you telked. with the’

defendént? A 'Not Krx., Perking; MAr; Crain,

N Cne of the awaistents cf the Disprictréthrnéy? A Yegy

YIFTON: ,

New, counsel saked yeu whethor or net the defendant

sxoman, ¥ill you etate

firet denied hie wsrrispe te thoas tw

211 the arnvers-tien tass Jfu hel with him,'ycur quections” and

his snowers,. ﬁ?ih ragpeot hes denipl?  What dii‘ycu say 40
hiw firet, =21 who® 211 Le-ery S you? AT tLink, in crder to-
“ thet 1% wig . bo thot tre Juigs wight not Q?IS to

, tecruge it was struck cut tefeore.

r.1 can you b-3tify o tu-s, witheal sifying 40
anhything tut the guza*izns "x.i,rgsw?rs, the narrigges?

P
=

I had-considereble 103 orrcernin i ‘elendant, sc thal

[ ) L. - o
v GuebTLith iw ctnoEInanEe

Now whot Soyru rek first

o Minnie Yendt?




%ion;of‘ﬁhé 'itn~58vfiré; éaying :
e subaequently admi“ted the - mwrfiage;—thgﬁf
" THE count: 1 w1 %1%0# yeu to question him B8 to
phase of. 1t.

BY Mb. MINTON:

Q@ Fow, whet 214 he say ét,'first‘as"tqihié maxriage ¢

¥innie “éndt? A Firs Le-denied thet he had‘mhtfiéd:ﬁef

THE 8PCPT:  No, strike tLiat cut.

PY uP, MILNTON:

PN

that he Led or lau et married ner\, s Yés,
he-eéidAao,' _
An3 auth 458 yeu—say b him then? A I brought to his

2ttsnsicn L. - flis morri- md the nome of the Ministeg'

who Lol performed the o-rrieg

. PY TIF QrUmTs

R FTste,w-"ﬁ yeu said in $1o%regtrd? A I,xola hin that

the reocrds in Poughkezpoic snowsd. th~t La L2 married Minnie

Vendt, ol ¢ certain 2-ts,® Prugk °ni hgmﬁd the

IR VRN W

Migileter whe Bed cffiol an? the f‘,{rij that yoe right,

&

. v *




REZCROSS, EXAMINATION BY ¥R: SPIELBERG: -

;iﬁfeiéétéd.in'géttihg evidence’ oharging

o this defendant with Bigemy? - Yes or no? A Bigamy, yes

Q You wers interested in chevging him with bigamy?
L Yaga, 7 o o »  7‘

Q Didn't I'&ék you that quenfiqn béfére, and?didﬁ't.
‘ssy 4hat you hed notking o de with thgﬁfendAof,;t?rlAf"
~didn't go tﬁeré for ti rpﬁrpose. A_Irwehtiﬁhef§30ff1 félly”
1n'oonneoﬁicn withrpﬁéeports. | h ‘

@ But befere you want
2hle ﬁpfarﬁa 23 hiéJni' mw? A A
0 But you ne?er inVrgtigiked Lio.m
i%h msking < chax e ing’, Lim for bigaéy?l :fNo,rsir;.
7 The’Unitei Tt&tés chwfﬁm rt-is ﬂﬁf.Iitﬁ;csﬁed in®
T coMmifs tigamjv' e fﬁvte cf;nof? A Yo, sir
V thn‘fepq;tméﬁt 6f-Jﬁ%tiQG,;

1gating Lie poet 1ife in relation to ony

iy vy chg}gej'Azwo,?éir.

by - -

~A—Qvﬁiiry?t you hedoell oAt detey cf:hic<h#friﬁgéa»1n

Poughkeepole znd in Alvion, rew York, in ycur posszacion?’

4 Yea, T : . o -

[N

Q@ And you grve him thoa

L. roa
- . v




‘g Now, -tell- th agt truth ‘co this Jury' about th

Y Th@ oxao t' th w s'that we we nt to take from him*t

hich hérh@ﬁ seoured, onerfor himee1£>§nd cqe<f§r a-woman that

he561éimed,vas‘hiarﬁifé;7 _

0 And is thet 21l thet youbwepareftérjﬁiﬁ}fqrkaii
gut t 8 pﬁssports. And, 1f'we !
:himsglf {n ornntction with the seéuiing bf'thé

wag our intertion tc prosecute him.,

Q@ Forperjury? A‘Y?e,-eir.'

Q 'ch were intere>ted in’ kvcw11 " whother he had_tdld'tﬁe
truth in regerd te ome preeports? A Vis, sir, th at is tha'

feot

N And is thet the absolﬁte'f,cg? \ Yea, sir.

Q-And cn6 there éﬁyﬁhing else thntAycﬁ a2 re a‘t;r ttiq
marc for?- A N éir, there wwén'ﬁ: “ _
| rgasﬁccﬁéd éhié hén:if be;ng

‘9. apy in oehhlf £ thz "ermen Goveornment, .dn

-

ehadcwed bim ord 4\11QM him, "r”

s

xeoulmrted tiz cntire 1ife; yes °r ro?  ‘~*"*-ot10n with’

cTung
prseports.
& In ¢cennoetisa with 1 apO”*B?_ﬁ

qi&;‘ﬁ motent




In .cormeotiﬁn With paeeports.

Q But as 8" mattcr of faot YOur
out whbther tbe dafcndsnt was wnrking
A It wee not. 7

Q Wadnftrthat‘ycﬁr:cbjeét?;A No,,sir.

0’ Didn't yet'sa tﬁ;t,rin 5onneotion Wiﬁh'ﬁésépofté;r
he wed wgtkinx for ther°efma£ Sovernment? A I ssid
1nve9tigetion,th5t_w¢,nﬁde_gf hinm Q%s‘in connzoticn with pééepc

thet hé had seburgd‘

working for the Termeii Covernhen
trying %7 get

“erwen Cevernmont? A I didn't

8ay anything shout ey “cvérnmeng?
-~ Q  You 411 ncs? A

2 Dyt y~u i"vesti ; 1A : 11y “you occuldtr-

0 And-trrt ves chly.;n releti-v to passporto? A In.

‘connedtion witk ée_gbliahin:,:h'nhcr‘t1e<n\m n whe seoursd

2 pasdpert ne Yis wife wra tde wife cron - -Thot wae-eur *

“Antercost in him.

Do you browahens 4hia ponsnert wis tQ,

r

bppiiéﬁtion fcfrﬁuig Feobpord?




:fBYVMR;'SPIELBERG:

Didn' you

our inv\ ignticns, ir fect;
o .

Vﬂetigat;oz

Q And aren't you resporsible,

=8 a.motter of faot,:

entirs proéec* ticn in -this crse, for bigamy? A I am not.

Q Just Beceuse you w

sgﬁinet him in:behéif Ef the'?saer?l Pov:rnmﬁnt? A Yo, eir,

04
ingten.

Y m u’ b TC
Q Did you give to Mr, Porki cwhen you
evidence tret you het o or owihl

oy hed cr whiob ycu tase tle: o

that he haa 3dmmitted bigemy? A1 gave to Ur. Parkirs in sﬁb’
N T - ’ - '
atance the

:1diti™n tc tho eds

inveeti@sticn wo Ymug med|y AT
miesirns ty sho defendant, wode to me, end Xr, Alams.

“rend

[y




~oertein arrangemenus were made?

NF, M;HTON:'IQobject'to:that’
TUF O§UTT: T will allew it.
Mr, Mintcn‘as} ed md

Lee, and 1 tOIA him

Q No. I ask ysu if it ic not a fact- thét the. District
‘Attbrﬁey “rcesou itg tris znee weérnt to yrn,'and'asked*you

you weull bé ectisfic 3 with certain hrrangemenfs, yes or

net A Ve
PY N, MITTOM:

0 Ani whet aid you tell ma

DY e )

7. SPIT 20t 5~ thst. It dcesn't meke any:

4fforences I 3luply s-uted to preva -4 s Debrict
: Y ! .
Attornay_c"t}¢.?3uhty’ c ﬁakihﬁ hie- Criere ¢r in-

gtrrctiers from thie morh

LTUT ONUTT: Well, what 2iffareroe 1ecg 1t maks? Thia

witrésa g °n ¢cfiflcer of % Taderel Gevernmant,

%, CPIFTPEC

M

St thd s proseoutien




nv

bt

 mcve th wheels or Justice 8E%
that’ the ju
qussticn of tho gredi,i’i*y of thﬁ wi*nesal But‘

Jury revch tre conclusicn thet a orims, in- ch

beer comuitt ed,. znd that the defsndant.is guilty 6f he

shirerr of s 05 gains* ths de*endant
GPI“LE- PGt That is aLaolutely s0; mey it
piease'yagr Henrr, »ut I am sniesvorin; to_show thﬁt.
this.witr;ee is mCVeiity one single metvive, wdrk;ng_
the Uniucd St 'fcyﬁrnmentl l

TIT - COTRT:

Q, Whot position Zo you hic i? A I am the aaaistaﬂt divisiﬂ

gup=vir “ondent ¢°© *'- r‘ur ny of Iuv~s*igatione, U ivv S%a+es

Teprrtment, of Justige, Yew
- ?

a

. crmay W 843 e
P, YIrTeN: e MYy

Rerey rule tr~* wy gquentlon

1 poryer?
Tow M""»'T;‘ I do rnr*Shink ket oy

door dny ”urthﬂr.

S

%IhTOJ Coun LES

-




PY MR. PIDLBFPG.

N
1

QfJﬁst otérmdlérdtsatjdh, Mr.

. everrrnc. No,: bt ie

v

ADAE s; a2

cnl lej en Lehalf of tre People,

EE fcllows;

"PIPECT EXAYITATION BV vm

? Mr. Ademe, who% is ycur ccoupation? A

¢ tre Urited Ctntea D riment o~f Juﬁtioe.

Q A sigvcd Yo any rﬂ*ticu‘*“ Aivisian? A

Piviei’n.

Tetwsen Yo Cefondtrt ~ni Yy, Caker? A

bt C}x u"

VUL mmosasds b apy sevececstion Vetwegy

him

I




0 "wnnt «n@ ha firsf sny

he K ;ot

B&id tha

8 ih'thé ap

-Jansen Loudon.

D>And

that wse neithmr of tre

Yel+ther onn

3 »

mernirg? A

Ard A1 esk hign

reas
J e

hin, "#3

and rnly meoriccel”

'A'Yas;Isir, I asked

firgt

And.Iveﬂid,‘“Now, be hen-o

time. Are veou duite surel

"Tdﬂj A tell

He 211, to

e

to Minnie %arnt,

Arid T 3747, "Then

"¥?L, in

.‘1_,*\_

Lk na

Miell, " T a"‘”,'why? Yo

raﬂ‘l‘nvn, wl*rruwh by oudeeel

2

shout

wonen who

- e \' s
with -ycurself and us

wea o4t

1eez .

.
aeCIn

testified this |

at -the

shovt Poughkeepsie?”

e truth, yes, I wog mare

from hevy

Sy
N

t¢ hmve ths npreara ﬂCO of

sRroes Yo ean't judred!

air,




that 1a no+ gprmnne to the isaue.'

.

BY i ».{INTONE R

o Be cnr°fu1 tc éﬂnfﬁns you*enlf to the marriapee 1n‘

q~ee+ihr heve? A He snid thnf he had dese d hor.

Diﬂ he séy why? A Yee he ﬁi&. He said tha+ he had.
joined the army at Port Wadswerth and hai to fly, and he’ ek'ppe
“to Gefmany..

BY TEEZ o0UTT:

Q Now, did he uee those werds? A Thoss are almost
‘batim, your Honor.

BY ¥R. UIETOH:

[ Now, did yéu havefany—c¢nversaticn'with him ebout

warriags t¢ n woman nemed 3cese O'Brisn? |

¥R, MI"TCN: dowevsr, wish your Housr's permission

I will withdraw the ‘question for tns time being.

Of ccurse, thr Tienographel will note that

e ftndsnt is anking n- objection to thia
-

B8t ki ohey yuur suiaot ds, dn. Spisk-

thiv ¢vilenoe'ias dncoupstent.
CPIZLIT 3171 Lav: ne ~ojrotion. d6 e
RY varienoes itk Whot the 0thor atn avid, I
_ o e .
‘ﬁtuhhiﬁ-mﬂn ii LUborey aowerds o 3¢ an.

.




and been married.-

And I said, "Up onfG;an"Sipznt?ﬂ Ani he 8% 1d

And I s eid, "Did you sze thé ltréym n ‘tha, ma'ried YOu?“
And he 2aid, "I did ﬁét. Ther:‘ﬁss'a naw one thor° 1

Aﬁd I said, "What 114 you ask Lim?" Any he. as 1&,
‘nsked him if ﬁ?jccﬁlirgive mv informa;icn'aQQu Mrs. Arnold,
and I'said,‘"Whgtidc y6u,know about

"Well thz t 3s‘my,first:wife. el

3 Ncw,
be oowoman .nluns d Res@ N'Brisn? A I didY

e

T U TTy Pardon nme.

what 114 he ooy bthxt the Jlergyman toll him, 1f

I akr.l3 beve =1ded tho My vife andson.”

Yo toll we ko 5%F Clergywon 5911 ndm thad he had

1or Blen whei s 5.0 sod w9, Bub Lunt i wife voe ¥rs, Arnoll,
married ¥4 w tutonzf, living 150 Union ©4ra: snd he -

+

by “he vay, he cisv soll: "1frgym°u, rni as Slirgyman b

SLY SOV O biud had wied




and been married.*

And I said, "Up on Grand Sir

229 o

And I seid, "Did you sze the Clefgym an tln waTY

And hs =2aid, ”I did not. Ther:‘w:s'n ‘naw one th 24

And I said, "Whet 1id you agL Lim?™ And- he aa id,

‘n3ked Mim if h?(cculi Zive n 1nf0£ma;;cn ageut Mre. Arnold,
ard I szid, "What dec you know about Mrs;-Arnold?“ ﬁnd'hg‘éﬁid

"Yell, that-w2e my first wife. che w:3 married.”

Y
s

5 ¥ew, <11 ycu ask him ~ny guestions about a marrings
o.woman nsmed Rodbe O'Brisn? A I Aid
27UNTr Pardon me.

ANGRT:

"hat 114 he ooy thxt vhe Jlargymen toll nim, if

I shruld hove sided are, My vife an Ason.ﬂ
Clergyisrn. 1211 bdm th23 hs

nos Ld9aa wh?;; 5. Lo W ;F 2ot via wifs wae Mrs._Arnoli;
N . - . B B - B < - . . B - ‘|'
warried %4 wutenz livin@ 150 Unlon ftract, snd he -="

by Lhe v, 'he "i:uﬂzall Tlergywon, nni as SlIrgymrn ;g}d

M3 -~

. ‘ua pust L% 3000
L ,.»,.\.,q,,\ .
s ',




‘ﬁoaé~0'Brisﬁ?,
- un. SPIELBERG: Objected to 2

s immzterial

and incompetents

THE .COURTP- Overrulell.

Exéépﬁicns

¥R. BPIELBERC:

o e, without stating the quzsti-ns put by you, wi i

-~

g

pletsa state.whétrherfifst 8aid ¢

you sbout Ross O‘Biién?}A?He

© had first said thot k2 4idn't know any such women,

» Whe* +3id he sey after tuet, if anything? A I daid, "Dé

you know bthe Tiversad lr. Wocds?" And he s2id,

And 1 sz2id, "Tiin's be merTYy you

‘And bz sid, "Well, now, I

it
rel

e 321, firat, I uased

o ) :
likes sny port in a storm,-

5
v

-
3

T2

-
I

her as

F

B ate

<)

won end wife,’ 3¢

2 e
Aol
N

0l w-

I ecii, .

y—o'u_.?' "

R

.

T

AxTa
Vdie

SIHT

.-

ime

Yea, 1 dounssu

"Yos,n
te Rqse_b'Brién?ﬁTg

will

sxplain that to you.".

4. viait Lner

5 Finally I lived with

pzréuaied wg 50 marry her.

g married by wr. Wouds Tu hnre”

"You soek vwewm menly {rom

wy Af yaur Lonor

DR

-
v

Y

1-

T

% t¢ that being ssrickon

"




any* statedent to 'y

of-Justios, about -the bigady-oase?. A On th

e

‘affernoon of January 27th of ‘thia year, he oalled at 'ou

~ BY THE COURT:

) Q’InrJanuary?,A“¥@%, sir,;&anu&ry'S?thi*~AndsWé¥

A little convarsstion with njm.

"He s211 that he had been tcteee the Distriot Attozns
end that sveryboly wis eatisfisd to drop th: charge againat.
him; that, however, thers wes ne.one who stood in his way.

othsr than Mr. Baker anl myself.

He 221d, "You Xkasw, I hove begn pi¥ing out quite a lot
6t @oney 44 my qttoyneys, znd they haven't been &bie'aq @dﬁ
‘anything f;r;me;f 7

dbjeetzl to.
Ailosvad.

SKceptlon.

T011lav0 to _ ra"yhe coultarolly Lolp ws, 2nd ysu. bWo odn

A L - - - -
help me." 7 T g )

‘He also scii, as suppe3ded by his :tburney, J. Philip Berg,
Toss O'Brian was oant up inte Port Hcps,‘canadék -

3

»




you know the faots, 1 do ot

THE;COURT: ~ Or a8 to what the defendant aaid about

s third party,

¥R, MINTON: = Yes, sir,

BY MR. MINTOWN:

AQ Now,~1f,yoﬁ can ;liminate ffom whaf‘fhe'défeﬂa;ﬁﬁytol
you éhe namée,of othera,who are hot 1nvolved here, pléaéé do
Did he say anything to you about the whereabouts of theftws
women, the two Wives inrtne bigamy case? A He told: me ;hét’
Mré. Roae O'Erien hagd Beén sent to_Port Hopq, Can&dg, to_ﬁerz‘
“sisterts howe, and that hes had vivan Nr. Berz, his attorney,
five hundred dollars to help geb her,thare, :

YR, SPIRIBRRG: I object to that, if your Honor ples

wg 1mmatérial. T:

MR, gIﬁTﬂN: . ™:ig ig a statément madeé ﬁy the

“ief;niant* 1f youi Honor plegse,.with~refer9nce'to

putting éhé “itnesues béybndithe«jurladiétion.

" GOURT: ,A11 right,-ppoééed.

(Anuver continuad) And that he had alséiﬁﬁiﬁ'bver




1f she wouldn!t testify a.ga.‘
“him either now or in the fut e, and he gave~it—-— he gavéAﬁe»

‘a postoffice box address for -- \\\

Q No.' I-don't want that, 7

' HR. THINTON: | T will consen\t\th that that be stricken

out, - 7 \\ ’ -

O Nov is «thi* all the conversation gou had with him in
regard to the trc women who testified herq today? A That's

all T can recollect at *::is time, ' //v

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. STIELBFRS:

Y Do Xcﬁ 6ccupy>1 position sup-rior or infarior in the

Departmen® of Justice to the last witness, lr., Baksr? A I beg

your pzrdon?

(Question repeated)? A "I =am a Special Agzent of the
United States erartment qf Justice, and he is Assistant:
‘Diviaion Superin*teniznt,

And ae oo:upiéa “ ;oaiti:n gsruevhat hi sher than you?
A "Y;m,'si;:.

Y-ou 3.y that y.u accompanied him to - the £ome oflthe
iefendant in Convent Avenue, iii_&:u not? A Yes, air,

Anl 21in'* he 1o the talxins? A As matter of faost,

I 11! moat of the interrogating, and 'r. Baker injected




er Baker 711{1tr0d{1v0_e(f you to the defendant s

didn't he? A He didn't introduce me under any nams,

E " H

[

iidn'tvgive'you any name at all? A No; he didﬁl'

. But Mr. Baker ani you vere both present at the time -wh

you talked with the defeniant? A Yes, sir,
o Di} you hear Yfr. Baker testify, a moment ago, that.the
defendant had Blii'thaf the Clergyman had told him that his’

son ~was not in town; 1ia that so? Did you hear Mr. Baker 80

feétify? A I didn't catch that, .

,Q (Questicn repeated)? A i daid,

" This ﬁas a'mistak= on thz part of 'r. Baker, was it
"R, MINTON: Objected to,
TﬁE COURT: Sustained.

n Diin'%t y-.u teatify, a momsnt ago, that the defzndant

tola yru thit the clargyman tolld him that his son wa: not in

-

. Pouphksepsie? A ¢, I diin't qay that.

@lerzyman b i so told him? 4 o, Bir,

ysa investi.assd this cise-earefully,

nooThat bt

-0 Fah.'lr. Alana,
113 yiu not® & To the ta:t ol ny ability, yes.
~  You —:nt to Albion? A o, sir; I dii't, -

~ You -ent to Poughksepaie? A Yee, alr,




gamy? A No,rsir, not at all
0 And yet you delved a8 deeply as you could into
Vlife in relation to his marriagee daid you not? " A It
9ustom when we make an inveatigation to go 1nto‘eVerything}"
regardless of whather it is a particular roint that we'are:
after, orrnot. ‘
Q) And you investigated his whole life, as.far as ﬁis‘
marriageé were conéerned? A Yes, asz much as poassible,

And other crimes as well,

T . You sald other crimes, 4ii yoh not? A Yes,

© Did ysu ever arrest tils defeniant and charge him with

any ocrime againet the Federal Statutze® A I didn't arrest
him at any time, no,
Yowr, ¥r, Alams, you say that this defendant called at

your office in the Department of Justice? A Yes, sir,

Ani had -~ ‘conversation with your . A Yes, with both

And heé Jenid that, s Iar ..o the bizamy charje was oonw
A -
cérnei, no one but y.u anl Y, Baksr waa praasinb it? . He

8aill, "You are the only tvo that atand in ny way of havingrqhe

bigamy oﬁlrge azainsgt me dropped",




women were beyon& the jurisdiction<ofvthe Court? A YeG

He s i* that the People's witnesses wers away and the
District Attorney couldn't try the case? A Yes, slr, Andi
by innuendo offered us this bribe.

“R. SPIELBERG: I objzct to that,

THE GOURT: - Yea, etrike it out and the jury will
iisregard the evidepce, bo not charictérise, Mf. Witness
atate the facts and 12t the jury det>rmine what he infeﬂd-

4od to do, Af anything.

"R, MIYTON: I csmaent %o lave it stricken out, your

Honor.

RU™“ 8§ O, of the Det:ctive Bureau, detail

Tiostrict Attorney's'office, a 7itness called_in

.07 the Pe;ple, bein ~ July srorn,. testified as follow

XACTIATIAN DY ¥n. UTNTON:

0 as . woay

Yeouar: an offlcer of *th: police f;rse—of the“CIty of -~

Yew York? A I am,

B IR N




"Train, the Acting District

Q’“hhd,'as*a result of that conversation with Mi}_Ti&i

the Acting District Attorney, where did you go? 4 To 128

No, 13 Park R}w, the ninth floor.
And il you me=t anybody there? A The office of My,
of the Department of Justice,

‘And Yr, Adams? s -~Yes, sir,

The 1as8t two gentlemsn on the stand here? A Yes, sir,

Q And 314 you zo anywhere with them? A To 128 Convent .

5 .
the defeniant thzre? A Yes, sir,

bring hir in to tolice Headyuarters?

.

And were you pre=sent ~hen he was arrainged at the

waa,

}
J p -
THATIOT BY MR, SUITLRTRG:

. CRNRS FYA

. in *hes T'ietrict Attorney's

ice, officer? A A:-ut t slv- years.

.0 And wlen yhu hal oa converasntion vith e, Traindid you

obtain the 2ddreas of this defeniant? A I did qopg

So that you fira-  o% j;ur infor@iti.n .8 to vhere-

v

- i < o -
RS R e R L




~ Mr., Train, Aoting Diatriot Attorney: at:the time.

In othsr words, Nr, Train told you to zo and éee'Mrg

” Baker;

isn't that so?- A EHe did, yee; o

Q And to do as Mr. Bak:r told ysu to do? A To arrest

a man whom Mr, Baker would point out to me, aft-r. Hr. Baker '

carried on an investigation,

So that y-u went alons with Yr. Daker? A T did.

An3 you iiinr1t know where yosu ~er= going to when you . .
hiﬁ?, A i knew I was going'to arrzst a man by ther
Max Loudon, for the crims of bigamy{

How 2id you l2arn what the charze wus? A I aéked Mg.

Baker 28 to thz ¢h-rge znd “r., Train =2lso told me that the

case waar3cmpleﬁe, ani to mnk:2 the arr:s3t without a warrang,

n

Do y~u raramb=r w®han you arreated the Jefenlant that -

the defendzn*t s2id, "Officer, why ~r:z y-u locking Te up?"

and yeu aoil, ¢I don't know, You'll find ocut tomorrsw morning®
A No, sir; that i3n't so.

N Ysuknew what y.u vir- arresting nim for? A Yes, and:

‘fso—inf&rmei.the jefeniant, -

° D14 ‘you 2rreet bim without & warrant? A Yes, sir,
"n And you didn't know where he-lived? A Not when I

started oust, » » .t

- B .
B A R L B T T R R N R R L L PP A UCE FRE TR

o




EURE RS v —ubie SPNRl S PR g b ke G ln N SN - S S By T

.Qi An&fso‘thatbeu couldn!t haié'érrested'hié; without

'sonebody pointing him out to your A No,‘sirx’
Q And Mr, Baker and Mr, Adams poiﬂed him out to you?

A They mcre uhﬁ men who 1wentified him to wme,

Q- Anu they laenﬁifled him 1 ymu 16 Max Loudvn? A ¥¢$
He had ;everal aliases, and that was one of‘them.
| Q  And they told yﬁu where he lived? A Yeé,reir.
Q And tock you o his home? A fes,‘sir.

Qs And thereupon ycu ~rrested him? A Yes, slir,

RTDIFTCT fXAHINﬁTI“W KR, ”INTPN

N You gens rwlly arreat people on: infornation glven to you

by others, and men ~ho =re pointel cut to ycu'by others?

¥

A Yes, slr,
HIVTOU: “ith tue excerticn of. en original doou
that I ekpect te g3t from Alb<ny in the morning, 1 X8

Honor.

. PPIELBTRG: 1 move that your Honer adviee the

jury to segult tue defeniwfit, :5n the ground that the

2

Pe.rla Lave faileld tc 1o he ~ut & owse, ant on the ground
) . " very '
tpot the Pasple'e c¢wn tectinony shews, out of the/mouth

of the defenic:t hirself, that hes ﬁeliéved himuelf'ﬁérbérA

a vidower 'hen h, mipried :1e ocoond vife,.

(LSRRI e

sl




MR, S 11 LBERG: I reépeo'_t';uny‘jexce_p%.,'

w11l havé=to ask an adjournment uﬁtiifidﬁofiow¢mprnipg

to get a witness, _ | : ' B

“~

THE COURT: rWeli, why can you not prooceed with

gone other part ¢f the case”

¥R, SPIELBFRZ: I bave no witnes: here, I have

none_here that I wish to call at the moment,

L - THE COURT: I ehall grant the request of counsel
to edjourn this case until tomorrow morning, in order

to afford him an oplortunity te sscure the presenoce. of

witnesses,

(The Court -

inonished the: Jury in acoordance

»1th Becticn 415 of the Code of Criminal Pro-

ad:curn:d the further trial ofr

the case until Thursis; merning, April 13th, - -

) 1916, =t ten-thirty o'clzck,)
” 3
EN v : . .
: . .
K . e
- N “
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called in behalf of the People, being duly sworn, teatifi

a8 follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, MINTON:

_ A Mr, uller, ycu are the Pastor of the German Luthe:an;
Church in Poughﬁeepsie, New Yérk? A Yes, sir, =
a n  And were you the Pxzator in 19137 A Yéé, sir,
L Do youAfemember the defandant, Max D, Chiﬁa;é ooﬁing te
vieit you in 19137 A Yes, sir, . ’

?

& Did you have a conversation with_him?A A Yes, sir,

Q Vhat Iid he 3ay to you? A Cams and tqldrme that he"
is Max Chimadg, 2nd he told me that he waa ma;ried w;th Miss .
Wendt, years ago, something 1likas t enty yéars, ~nd he }ikes’to

have his son, Mux Arnold.

BY THL ‘COURT:

n e 1ikes %o have his son"? A Yes, sir. And I told

.- - -

him I oouldh't tell the a 'irfess of l.is son.  But I went to
Al - . . .
see, next mcrnin, Vias. Arnold. And ;'r. Chimang gave ne his

-ddress fro- Buffalc, Yew York, Allingtsn Sjuare, or aomebhtng;“

like that, snd I wrote him a let e, but the letter onme baok,

BY YR, MINTON:

®  Have-you uny means of refreahins your reoollection as
L - - RTINS
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o:the date on whioh the defendant came to seée you's

oughkespaie, New York? A The date?”

0 fge? A No. I -—-.

Q I mean have y»u any letterAer anything th#tvshowe about
the time he came there? A Yes, I have the letter hgie. | |
Q You have?’ A Yés, gir. - _

Q And is that ﬁhe letter you wrote to him.after he had
visited you? A VYes, sir. : -
4y, Now are you able tc rsfresh your recollection! and-statb

when it was in the month of September, 1813, that he came?

A Yes, sir,

Q ' Now what iil he say about “rs, Arnold? A He don't say

very much,
BY THF COURT: Q What 713 he say? A Hs dijnmrt sy much

Dbout her. He told me that he wis married with her, years ago

and now¥ he lik=s to havs his son, ’

BY W, yIurame

" Did he mentiocn the f.ct that the ¥iass Wendt, to wh9m he
ﬁié‘mafriéd wi nov “rs. Arnola? ‘ ;
v ﬂR; SéILEBmRG: I object to-that as absolutely ieadiv
48 hxa given the full csnvara;fian, héiemya, as he hongétl

remambers 1t,

THE COURT: Nvarruled,




3 .

Did he mention the fact th&tr

‘A¥nsld? A I think he did, .-

Q Well, don't you know whether he did or not? A There

wag ﬁg question about that, B S
‘BY’THE COﬁRT:

"' Wnich nam: 4id he meﬂfioh, Mrs, Chimang, or Miéé Wéndf,
or Mfs. Arnold% A I.think ire, Afnold. V L

BY MR, MINTON:

Q@ He mentioned Mrs, Arnold, before you mentioned the
name, 3idn't he? A Or Miss Wendt; I don't know that for sure

BY THw COURT:

¢ VWell, dil you know %rs, Arnold under the name of MNrs,

Wendt? A To, 51;; she was married before I came to Pough-
kee@éie.

QQV Under vhat name iid you know this woman? A Mrs,
Arnold,

Yrs, Arnold; is that right?

. N

" NOW, unddr what name i1 the defendant introduce himself

you? A Max “himang. -

AT AR, e rss BT




Q@‘And what did you say to him- when heé mentio d that nam
A I told him I know the boy and, when he 1iked to havahis ad
dress, I went to Mr, Arnold and asked them for thg addrese,‘

and gent the address to Mr, Chimang,

& Did you know Mr, Arnold? A Sure,ryes, 1 did.

) Do you kno&*how long he had been married? A No.
How long had you xnown ¥r, Arnold? A- Eight yeafa.
Ani when you first met him was he then married? A
Did you knéw the aon,-ﬁho was called Max Arnold?
sir, N

‘ N

 THow old was hé at that time? A When he was there
(indicaﬁng.the Jefeniant )?
A Yes? A Te was n little boy then.
Now when the éefen}ant told you hip‘hame was Chimang, 'a
had RVSQD n.mel ¥ax Arnold, 17 you injuirg howv it v;Br

thavscn was zalled "“x ‘Arnold? A Yes.

-

0. Di& you 1n1u11e abolit that of the defsn.ant? A Wo,

N .

T heard it before.

o, o+rike *hat cut, rid you inquire of“the_
defendunt? A Yo, eir,

0 How far is yuur Aureh fros “zhers the Arnold store _wag




I8 the Church on the same sfréeti“AA lNo;kft?‘v

-game street, : — I <

"Q On what street is the Church 1déated?, A-‘Gtand Sﬁze -

Q Near where? A Near Union,

Q Near Union? A Yeé; sir,

Q@ And the Arnolds lived 2% that time onUnion Street; at

, , R .
what number?  You say about two blooks away from the Church?

A Yzs, sir..

Does Union Street cross Srand Strest? A Yes, sir, -

0 So that the Arnolds rzally lived around the block from:

the Chqrch, is that right? A Yes, s8ir; about:twp blocks,

- About two blockas? A Yes, sir,

e~
Q2 Dii you tell the defen’ant that the Arnolds lived around

the blocks? -A He knows that, - R
THE COURT: Well now, strike out "he knowe that", -

Q Did you %ell nim where they lived? A No,

0 /Lid you ask him why he didn't look up his eon? A Yes,

sir,

G

0 Di4d yéu 23k hir that mestions A  Yes, sir,

h-,ﬁhat.;ii-he'eay? A. He told me that he is now well off‘

andi he likes to L.ve his scn,

~ N, Did you tell him to _¢ arcund the cornsr and he

could find nis son? A Yes, oir, I asked him why héfwasn!i;i

- L L

e TR . : - L et S




nd what did he say? ‘A That he don'!

7id he eay that he didn't wieh to see lre. Arnold?

" MR, SPIELBFRG: I objeot to that as immaferisl,

irrelevant and-inconpeten®t, ani entirely lmproper.

A No,

THE COURT:  Lllov @

YR, SPIELBFRG: - Exception,

"N~ Why 217 he -y he 3idn't like to o around? A Beocause:

)

it mokes =z baa fesling, like that,

 Yes. He .. 1d it woul: uwake bad feeling if he went .

around? A Yeas, sir;

OROCS WXAVIVATION BY WR. SPEILEYRG:

. -

Now, Lr. N v, you are e Lutheran Clergymen? A Yes

Up in Poughk epsie? A Yes, sir, -
ror yLu v-atified te is imyortant, ani, if you
2y o, I wish to ok ycu a few gueshions,

't.11ler, =nd if you rzuenber, ple.se tell ne, Now, do -
renepber when it wos that this Jdef:n’ant came to see you? -
Do ycu remember accurately just new? If ysw den't understand.

my Rngiiah, pleuss say. 8¢, Lo yiu undirstand m@?: A Yes,

¢ When wase li, “hit yeary L. 1913,




on remember £he &até?‘iA >Noﬁuex$dt1y i

four years ago. . e T

the 81st, like that. - - o

;o ©Q Then it wae about the latter part of ‘September then?.

& Yes, sir, l . :

¢ Mr. fuller, ien't it possible that it was in 19137

You don't think it is possible? A No, sir. I have

the lefter here,

@  Ancd the l:-tter is addre:sed 19137 A Yes, sir; the
stamp onrtﬁe let*er is 1912, B -

©  And that's vhat fixes it in your mind? A Vo, sir; it

isn't in my Gind; 1it's there, , - )
5;: i ) N 1 say, by seeing tue lettzr, ycu‘rémenber? A Yes,
7 & Now, Nr., Xﬁllen this defenizant canme po'your home?
A Yee, sir. : . ,
. 2 Eew 1d he introduce himself? " Whotdid he say his name
’ffg? . was? .A lax Chimang. . ‘ ‘

o

An't know hinm? & Yo, - -

.\ : .- ' A .
. : § Yo
0 Thut'e the firet t.ne you B&av hiwﬁin your life? A__Yeé;‘

sir,

~  VWhat wus the next thin_ he ..1u to you, doctorir' Wn@ﬁ*

N L o

il e




' want YbﬁxabéetVreodiléotién;-do§tor.'fA {A;ﬁhQ'tqlﬁnkf
7 nahde, ,tflaeln_;,l aa‘ke.dl pim if he was that Chimang that maiie,th_e-
rtroubléjik Germeny, » |

Q Yes, that's fight. You asked him if he was the ehimaﬁ
that made the trouble in Germény?"A And he told;meAﬁd; "Tha;i
my‘btosherﬂ. | |

Q That is was kLis brother? A Yes, sir,

- Q What 4id you :3uy then? Do you remember?  If you don't'f

remember, say 80. ¥hat <ic ke say then, if fou remember?
A Yes, then he =sked me about Lis son, -
Q That's.right. He a-ked ycu about his son? A_ Yes, s8ir
0 What did ﬁe sayé Did he say, "I have & boy in Pough-
keepgie"? A .Yea, sir,
~ - And what 314 you @iy if you reuw-mber? A VWhat shall

Tell me, I've got to get the conversation, if I

can, If you romenber, tell me plé.se, Doctor, A That's

fouriyeaié 280, )

i 7 I appreciate that, ani I know
you>can to'be perfectly hun;atrwigh ug, Tii you say that iou.
knéw Lis son? A Yes, ‘

o Max Chimdng? . A Yes,

0 Did you knoy. anybody by that name? A MAx'Arnold.
e V B




”ﬁ'w-)

'yQuAdﬁthAundgfetand‘ma,g;, I aéyJidtq,yg

time know t

H

hat there was a boy in your neighborhood whose hats
was Max Chimang? A Yes, sir. I knovw that Max Arnold was

a N

adopted by a stepfather, and was before lax Chimang,
Q -You knew that, did you? A Ys8, sir, o T

3 Did you so tell him? If you remember, say so, anddiff

you den't,say so? A No,
f Tid you speak %o him &t all? . o S

MR, MINTON: Let him finish the anever.  He asked
you, did you tell kim that,

BY MR, SPIELBFRG:

2 Tid you ‘ell thls defeniant that you knew his boy, Max

Chimang, wes now knuwn';a vrx Arnold? I you don't remember,

say 8o, rlease. A VYes, I tiink I did. .

7 But you are/ﬁ%t sure about that? A No, no* very sure
but I think it. I think it was so, , 0
3 0 You think 1t® A Y=s, sir, E :

r Yell, th.t's £il right.. Uow, icotor, Ji° the defendsn

sk }ou wnything ab.out his wife, when, he .213, ke married tw

yeers ago? Yes or no? Did he =aked you? “A I don't thing he

-aked me &bout his wife, i

7 Lic you tell him anythling zbout bis wife, .ootor?

A o, sir, - i , : -




Q That's right. And ther was nothing eaid abouhthe

wife? A Not very much, no,

a

REDIRECT'EXAMINATIO& BY ¥R. MINTON:

Q@ But there was. something 821d about the wife,

net? A Yee

Q@ Hé 3213 her name was MNrs. Arnold, didn't he?

-

RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, SPIELBERG:
New, ‘octor - A Miss Wendt,
BY MR. MiNTOK:
Q@ And nbwrura. Arncld? A fes, Mrs, Arnocld.
BY IR, SPIELBERG': |
Q The cefendant tolc you thit he married a Poughkeepsie
;1r1,>tménty years whose name wzs Mina Wendt? . A Yes, sir.
And wasn't t a1l he told you? A - Yes, and now mrs.‘

Ainold.

Q .Are.ycu sure he tolc ycu that? A Yes, I am quite

Q2 Did you teli hiw anything ctout that? A  He knows

himeelf, see?




Qhwgéﬁéfwantryoﬁ;'peqt,recoiléctgépm . Please-th

:'ahd,;emember exaotly, - Get the scene biack into your miﬂd a8

he was 8itting in your office, and tell me exaotly,.becaﬁae it

~1e important.,  You underst&hﬂ what you are doing, ﬁouydu not

doctor? You undérstand that this is a sifuafion inxﬁhich;af

defenzant is being tried upon & serious charge, and I ask only

for your best recollection. A I think that I spoke about Mys,:

Arnold'tp him,

,Q You think s0? A Yes,

G But you will not swear positively to it, dootor?,'A_ I

. am jyuite sur:z on it,

Q@ An’ then when you =:is a nenent ago that the mein con-

P : " son, =an’ you told him “hat you <would aacertain the address and

~rite - to him, or send it to hin, youltold the truth, did you

. not? A - Yes, eir, ‘

N And thwut is the prircipzl part-that happened? A Yes,

sir, .- - .

BY"HE COURT:

¢ You :leo said that thare . s<ze talk sa to why the
‘defendant 6ii not o0all for iis boy =t the Arnold house/ Vas

there not soire telk about thatp A Yeo, sir,




I remember right he z=uid he don't like to go there; et

BY MR. SPIELBERG: ‘ :

Q Doctor, are you sure now -s to what answer he gave you?

or whether you aeked him at all,-"Why don't you o around the

‘corner and see your boy"? Did you say that to him? A"Yes;

sir,

"Q Are y.u sure that you said that to. him? A Yss, sir,.

@  "What Jon't yﬁu go-around the corner and see the boy?“

Is that what you asked him? Nov bplease t°11 me what you asked

hir, if you remembér?l'A About ths Arnolds?

-2

Did you szy to hin, "Mr, Chirmans, why don't you go

around the corner anc see your scn"? . A I told him, "Why

4dewn't you go around the corner =ni see lr, Arncld, and ask
them™, - -
v - ’ . )

W ¢ -Apk him?

. YR, VIATNI: © Yo, ask thewr, he sald.

MR, SPIELBFRG:  Purdcin we. I didn't catch hie

2nsver fully, . » B

", Q And vhat 4id he vay, if you remember? A He don't like



,e;f;

. @ Is that-all that was s8ald about the Arnoldéf Is tha

all that vas said about them? A I think that vae all,

H A‘ﬁ RY D, B A RTLEETT , of Alvion, Ngwll-
York, a witness called in bekalf of the People, being |
duly svorn, testified as follows: |

DIRECT EXAWINATION BY VR, WNINTON:

Mr. Bartlett, you zre tﬁe County Clerk of Orleans County

sir.r .

And is Albion, Few York, in that County? A Yes,Asir;

And have you ch:rgé of the marriagzs records of the
County of Orleans? A I have,

. Have you producsd, today, at my rejuegst, the origzinal

marriaze license zni affiduvit for the license between Max Paul -

" Loudon and Rosé Amelis 0'Brien? A I have,

% Will ycu han® it to ne?- A T will,
<= URs VINTOU: L offer it in evilence, -

>

¥R, FPIELBIFRG: I objec{ to it ;3'imnat§rial, irfele-ﬁ
vant aﬁd inconpstent, Tﬁe mérriage has been‘ocnoedéd'by |
therdefenaa. -

THF COURT: I will gllow i,

YR, SPIELEFRG: I rapectfully except,




ot havevit marked;_ Lo T

THE OQURT: - “No. = It may be read into the record, .

MR. MINTON: - T will reed it to thé jury and the

. stenographer can ihoorporate it in the reocord,
(Mr. Minton then reads People's Exhibit 1 as follow

Staﬁe of New Yofk

‘Affidavit for License to Mariy. -

State of New York _No. 1093

County of Orleans

Town of Albion

Max Paul Loudon, Croom

and Rose Awmelia 0O'Brien, Bride,

applicants for a license for merriage, being severally
sworn derose and say, that to. the beat of their ol
>dge and bBalief, the following stztsment respectively

signed by_tLemvia true, =nd that no legal impediment

exlsts as to the richt of the arplicants to.enter into

. the morrizge state,
. - A N - N

Vﬁ 3 . Fron the Grodom:

- . Full name: dax Paul Loudon,

Color: Thite,

i ' rlsce of residence: Buffalo, New York, 158

f " Seneca Street. .




Place of birth:  St, Quentin, France,

'hamg,of‘Fa@he?E Augustus A; Lbudon;
quntry of bifth: Franoce, |
maidén name of mother: Whilamenia De Montmoreﬁgy; 
Country:bf pifth: France, >
~ Number of'méfriage; » First;r
Former wife or wives living or dead:

ls applicant a divorced person:

Lf so, when and where divorce or diveroces

were granted:
“From the Bride:

Full name: Rose Amelia O'Bri¢n.
Color: Vhite,
. Age: 43,

Dccurtaticn: lone,

rlace.of birth: Westin, Canala,
" Hame of Father: Alex=nder Wh;te.
Oountry'of birth: England,

v

vaiien n.me of mother: BSusanna Braund,

Couniry of birth: n~anada,

Number of marriage: Second,




"Is applicant a divoroédipereon} | e

Lf so, when and where divorcde or divoroes
were granted,Q——

#ax Paul Loudon ﬁisarﬁoee Amelia O'Brien
Groom N . Bride »

ol ' 'Subscribed znd scrn to befofe me this

14th day cof November, 1913,

Harry'E. Corburn

Town Clerk .

Hey York State Department of Health

rlace of Reglstry ' : "

. Btate of New York -
Ccunty of Orleans. - : . .

N Town or City ¢f =- Albion _ V -
gNOF ALL UFR ©Y THESBERTIFICATE, thut any person
authorized by’law to perform marriage osremonies within:

‘the State of New York to whom this may ocame, he, not

knowing eny luvful impediment *“herdto, is hereby




0'Brien, Qf;Albionl‘&g‘the-COunty of Orleans,'and-Sﬁata

of Wew York, and to dertify the same to the sald partiés

or eithr of them under his hand and sesal in his minie=-
terial or official capacity and thereupon-he is réquirth;
to return his certificate in the form hereto anneied. -

The statements endorsed hesreon are annexed hereto, by me,

subscribed, contain & full and true abstract of all the .

facts concerning such pérties disclosed by,their‘&ffi-
davits or verified stutemente presented to me uﬁon the
application for this }icense.
' LINTESTIEONY ﬁurnEoF, I have hereunto set my hand .
and affixed the seal of o2 Tewn cr City at Albion, .
this 14th day of November, 1913,
Harry E. Corburn,

Albion, N, Y.
(Seal,) . . Town Clerk,
h %he:foli;ﬁing is a full na true abstract of all
th; faigts.disclcased by the ﬁbovern;medvapplicqnts in-

their verirfie’ s'.:zments presented to me upon their

.prlicaticns for *Le zbove license:
V Frﬁu the Sroom:.

)_Fgll_ngmér Mex+ Pgul Loudon,




Oceupation: Civil Engineer,

>P1aderof‘ﬁ;rth: §t. Quentin, Franoce.

Name of Father: Augustus A. Loudon,

. Coufitry of birth: France,

Zaiden n#mg of mofheri Whilamenia De Montmorénecy,
Country of Birth: France,

Yumber of marriage:  First,

Number of wife or wives living or dead ----
ls‘applicant 2 divorced perscn:

Lf so, when and where llvoros or divorces

gr&ﬁted:
From the Bride:
Tull name: Rose Ameli: O'Brien,
;Color: “hite.
rlace of residence: Albion, N.‘Y. 16 E, Herriok St;
Age: 48i 7
NDcoupation: Yone

A

rlace of btirth:. Testin, Canada, .

Name of father: Alex:nder “hite,
Country of birth: Enzland.

‘1aiden name of mother: SugrLna Braund,

Country of birth: Canada,.




{s applicant a divoroed person: <=

1f so, when and where divorced or divorces were

granted: - ————

T0 CLERGYMEN AND MAGISTRATES.

The license ani certificate duly signed by the

person who shall have solemnized the marriage therein
authorized shall be rzsturned by him to the office of
the Town or City Clerk who i:sued the same on or before

the 10th day of the mcnth next suéceeding the date of

the colemnizing of the marriage therein authorized and

any perscn or perscns who shall wilfully neglect to make
such return within the time above required.shall be
deened pgullty of = nmidemecsnor and upcn convicticn thereof

shall be punished by a fine of not lese than {35 mor

~

.more than £50 for e~ch znd every offense,

I, Herry ®

. Tyods, a miniater, residing at Albion,
in Ghe Cqunfflof Or}ezna, and State of,New‘York, do
ter=by certify that I did, cn this i&th’iay“of‘
"overber, in the year A, D, 1912, at Albicﬁ, in the’

Coun“y of Orleans and State of lew York, sclemnize tﬁéfp

rites of matrimony bétweén Paul Mex Louden, of Buffale,

L3




Brien of Albion, ‘in the County -of Orleans'and

B New York, in the bxaﬂﬂﬁCSfo:MrBQ'MﬂiiL ' 1

. i and J.fﬁusee11 0!Br1en, as witnesses,
7 therefor 1e;heretd.annexed.
wITHESS my hand at Albicn irn the Coﬁnty of.Orlggns;T'
this l4th day of November, A, D, 191a. ) S
In presence of H, C. Woods - ﬂ
Urs, Yay L. Wilson (Signature of person peiforﬁing"
J. Eusséilrb'Brien _ ‘ ceremony, )
(Signature'bfrwitness.) 5 E, Statg; Albioh; N. Y

(Address of person pqrfdrming

] ceremony, )

ROSE ANMNELTIA 0 }.PRIEN, Dbeingrecalled .

Yy the Tistrict Attorney, tzotified as follows:,

ST EUAMTIATION TV OET, 'T.TI?.'TON:

- N Yrs. QﬁBriéh, will you pleaxse look at the siinature
\ N -

or Psorle's Txhitit-l anl ctate vhetlir that 13 y:ur:B1ghature'

to the apylicati-n f<r . m.

¢ licens®? A Yz2a, it is,

© And 210 you your hustand, or the defendant, Max Paul

e

Loudon, sign th.t name, too {indiocatinz)? A Yso, I seen him;

*ign,




g

ned 447 4 Yes.
R . . : i
. Q  Did you {_hear_him answer every question that was:

him? A By the Clerk, you mean?

Q Yes, By the young man or the old man? A- Yes.

MR, MINTON:  That is the People's case,

MR, SPIELBERG: I renew my motion, made yeaterddy

the People rested.

THE COURT: - Denied,

MR, SPILLBERG: Ve respectfully excépt..




of 160 West

Wwitness c&l;edﬁih behalf- of .the defénéé;~

ay

sworn,rtéstified a8 follows:

DIRFCT EXANIKATION.BY MR, SPIELBERG:
Q VWhat is ycur full name, eir? A J. PHilip Berg,
Q Trere is your office? A 399 Broadway. -

Q What is ysur occupation® A I h&ve been practibing'law‘

s‘nce 18%9. o . ‘ g
¢ You have been 2 luwyer for scue thirty years now?

A About that, ™

A ststement w-s mace yesterday by & witness named Baker

that the elendant s2id that he gave you fivs hundred dollars

to get Mrs, O'Brien cut of the jurisdicticn of this State;
is that so? A That is not so,

3 Di® ycu ever ra2ceive any such money? A I never re-

~2ived = renny for any such purrose.

N OTic yeu make ~ny attespt %o get ra. O'Brien ~ut of the

jurlsidiction of this Cizter A I certainly d1d not,

A P11 you ever ses Urs. O'Brien in ycur life until you

‘éuw'her jﬁef4nof cn the ptand? A I did not. )
Did" you hL~ve any converéAtign With‘xr. Baker aﬁbeefueﬂtw
arreat of the defen’.fht? A Yeéj ‘
Q ﬁhere?"A"Once at the Tombs an -rnce 1t 'my 0ffloe,
‘Opdg at -the Tombs yrisoen, next ‘sor-hers (iadio&tdﬁg},.‘yg
- - R

@




TERETET ae T

'Q "What dia he say to you about thé deféniﬁnt?. A He

said he wanted some papers, and if I would get them for him, -and

I told him I would,

Q0 Did you get those rapers for him? A I diad,

Q As the attorney for the efentant? ‘A Yes, And I sald
"Fhat is theve in the secret service against iy client, the .
Count?ﬁ

And he - ' » W& male 2 thorough investigatién; We
. first’thdﬁuht, under infcrmatiun ¥e had received from the
Fer Yerk Herzld, that te wag = ok ) - .7e have gone
over *hat r=cord entirsly, an’ we find that we have nothing
aé&inst hiﬁ_ And *+h- - statemént has wlao been m&de'to a re=’
,portef of *he e York Verli,®
TY NP, HTNTON:

~ dJe 17 you hear that atztenm i A

York World, no, L diin't k -r . statement,
"HF COURT: - Well, atrike it ut,

THE TITEESS:  Te s-4d thn* *hat stocemant

to the New York World,
~ Who 4127 A lr, Raker,
THE CRURT:  Ther I %421 allow it to stand,

BY LR, MIUTON:




‘And you afterwards sent himAthe papera that
which you obt&ined from the- defendant? A Yes, eir
them in an envelope’ and sent them to him, by a man oonneoted

with the Department of'Justice.
Q@ And that wag when the defnn*ant was out on bail?
Well he' was cut on bail either g day or two before or 3fter

that,' 1 can't remember that diatincfly.

CROS: EXAUVINATION BY MR, MINTON:
Q You didn't expect Mr. Baksr t- give yoﬁ his evidence,r

did you? A VNWo,

MR. SPIFLBFRG:  Thut is expected %o, what he

~xpected, o ' R
THE CNURT: I will allow the question,

THP WITRESS: I didn't expect him to lie to me,

‘though,

BY MR, MINTON: . ‘ !

£ Bit you didn't @xpesot him, a deteotive, s secret ser-

vice man, to disclose %o the &ttvrney of th Zefeniant what
evidence he had against ia ullent? A Certainly not,
Q Now you were the defenijant's attorney from st least

June, 1815, weren't you? A Yes,

N Yes? A’ Yoo, have besn his a*tornsy -- I have

€




N

Q" And yéu’were-the'gentleman who wag 1@6,;u

attemptin to=pfobupq these passports? A I prooured a:pahgport

.fOX' 'hil;fl;

-4 You procured the passports which were referred tolin.

the festimony yeéterday, did you not? A I don't know;ﬁhat.ﬁgs'

r2ferréd to in the festiuony.

i
Is that the application fof

I was not here,
Q -Well, now, look at this,

‘the p=assport, with your card attached? A Yes, that was made

cut in my office,

; .
Foey ng

Q And those were the passrorts which 3

Fe ieral Agent

was seeking to rzcover at the time thsy investigated the de-.

fendant? A Some:pijevss he wentioned, z2nd then I gave those

o
<

papers to him -- one of them at least, .

polespurt #13 for himself and another was for

‘o Vell, uns
a woman; wasn't it? A I think so, I Jdon't know, I don'f
know exactly, Te azil padsporta; but I'don't‘know whioh one. L
it ﬁae_ ‘ ’ —ﬁ t
\ ~ w211, I .ek yocu, r. Bery, whether or not one of the {

raseporte. was for the defen::nt :ni the othar for a woman?
Y . 5 - .

t
l
$

A I think ac,

g¥IEL37RG: I obje a2 lraaterial,

"R,

irrslevant and incomperent, T2ie man was Tut, on the

stanl to deny a particulur stitiment mide Ly ur. Baker,
o L L N - L e




“+ MR, SPIELBIRG:

— BY MR. MINTON:

N For how long? A A 1little over a yesar,

W

Q Hell,r'ren't'y.u tnxiouy to help yosur client

«

A I mhozs to tell the truth, .
n  (Queaticn repsated)? 4 It is my dusy, if I
% Athe truéh,,‘ “ i
.% \\ ' ‘ 4 Did you _o-to Pou Lk cpsie o seetlls: Vendt
b . Arnolit _Nu,’kir;, T dim't, .

M i ; ~V~ ) ) - - .
o Hduve you bsﬁn'to Pougik~2isie 1o, thls matiex

. - the Distriot At‘orney would be unuble to c2ours a2

- Q You say that you hzve bsen the attorney for the dé-

- feniant for how meny ysars? A I didn't say for ysare,

that, baczuse that is privilegad betwsan attorney ani oliant,

hars?

am

or

telling

¥rs,

%117

<

© And, of course, you are familiar with moat of'the:deif

- : ©* I am not asking you to tell me anything confidsntial;‘
VA - A ¥ell, that fuct_is privilegad and I claim m& Erivileged.
THﬁ COUﬁT: Sustained.. .
BY MR, VINTON: ' P

8 Diin't you mnk3 at.amen%y Su cariain people that fose

' fen‘ant's affairs? A Tell, I don't know that I oould tell you

9'Brien w. ull naver bs procursi by toz Diatrict A:tornéy;;phzt_,

A% endance?




“tne w?tneseee in this case? A I did not

O,T T O A L B E R 8, a witneas called’ in behalf of
the defeﬁee and belng examined throuzh the Offioial :
lnterpreter,'ﬂr. Rosenthal, tsstified as_followg;
CIRFCT EXAMINAT¥ON BY R, SPIELBERG:

Q Ther: do you live, sir? A 138 Convent Avenue,

You understand English a little bit, qon't you? A A
little, y=s.
And you spe.l ’J”ewhat lon't you? 4 Oh, yes;

Howv old 2a:man are you?

HR. MINTON:  Tet him spezk in Enzlish then,

"R, SPIELBERZ: “ell, he spe.ks it unintelligibly,

1t i3 extremely hard o unisrstand him,

A I am thirtyffquryeara cld,

lony 4o y.u kno= the defzr..n% 2t the Bar? A Since’

-

Wher: 111 you mzet him 2t “time? A In Hdanover,
qumany.

‘hen 1 y.u soae Lver “-iszountry? A In 1911,

S4d you and the ief:n ' rewcin irn Sermany bstwzen

.

1892 ani 19}1? A Durin; tha* sime T #a4 in 7ernanj;—

[




-

‘,,’Q ’R%,~did yo;:fnd the;defeni&nt‘remain’théié ﬁht111191l?

Do you know Whéther;%heAdefehiaﬁt_also remained thers until 1911

A Yes, He remainei in Germany and so did I, but I wasn't

always_togéther with him,

Q Did ‘you come here in 19117 A Yes, sir

0 And 317 the lefen’ant come hers in 19117 A This I

don't know exzctly. I met him in 1911,
Q- Did you work forAthe defaniant while you wers in the
jad - - . - .

United States? A Yes,

¢ Wnbre did y.u work? In what City? A In Buffalo, and

Fort Erie.

)

Q@ Vhat businzss waid the def3niant sngazed in in 1811 and
1813 in F@rt Erisz, if you know? A He had 2 factory of noveltis
and employed about 35 or 30 p-ople.
) Jzers you sne of the employzs? ¢ ‘&é§T~M
-3 LTy . bookkzeper,
L yer, iii you &0 to the

Poughkéepéie? A Y.s, sir.

iii'yw go thare?

MR, ¥INTON: I object to *he form of the juestlon.

"HE COURT: Sustaine. .s %o form, The fact may bé:

ostablished,




| *'Q Did the defendant ask you. t§ go 3o the Clty of ‘Poug
“keepsia? J

¥R. MINTON:‘ Yes or no to that,

A Yes, sir,
Q And did you thersupon go to the City of Poughkeepsiep

A Yes, sir,

©®  What did you do there?

“R. MINTON:: ¥ow don't state the oonversationa‘you"

had, please. What d4id you ﬁo, you are askéd.
should
A I/make arrangsm:n%s sc he shoull get together with his:

wife again, He thbu§ht that she was --
R, MINTON: I object to what he thought,
THE COURT: Sustained,
BY M2, SPIELBEQG:

0 VWhat 3i1'you do in the City of Poughkeepsie? A I

wrrivedl therc in ths worning snd afterward I got in communiocati

with “%re: arman sentlewsn in . resiaurant, - “hen I heard

the gentlemen ~ere talking Cermih, T ing.irz. of them about &

-

1:1y by +h: name of Vendt, a4 . ake s thew whether they knew
2 }ady by the name of Wendt. . ) ,V'-.w’

© D4d you fin! sut any family by t'e name o Vendt, 11vingf

over there?” A Thzue ,antlewmen sent me,{the suie lay, t$<N6;
180 or 181 Unton Strest, . I don't remssbor the nuubsr any more

o




A-Id lady . and aéked:hef'about the,hgmeréf,Wendf;{

medu)wufmdoM? A

AR. MINTON I‘obJeet %0 .the form of the question,
unlese %e have Wwho it was that he spoke to more epeoifioa
THE COURT: I sustain the objeotion.
¥R, MINTOW: And who was the woman? May we'have
fixed first? N
~ THE COURT:
BY M7, ZPIFLBIRG:
Whzrs 313 you spezk to this womano- In what street or
at what number? A It wi: in Union Stréet, Yo, 160 or 164,
the neizhborhood o; a2 zm2?l church, a little chﬁroﬁ.
BY THE COURT:

churdh cn Unlon Streets. A Oh, yes.

©° How far frub éhe hoﬁse ”ﬁa thee urch? A As’
fr;m the ~ritness cyair to the =znd ofths ;oom,r “
Abolit 200-feet? A P rLig: 1 1i%:1: lenger, & little
Lid y<Q thess ok for iiss or ‘re. Vendt? A Yes, eirf
Ani .iivyuu taer - ge* oertain.iﬁform&tiéh sbout hér?'
iwﬂ, MIHTON: I objsot to the form of thé'quqﬁion.

THE C°WT:  Overrulad,




o N ; A o 7 , T
Q7 And did -you bring that information about her-to:

f&ﬁﬁmwﬂ@tﬂwBu#'A Oh, yes. SN :

- - Q wheﬁ dail ypu'gpfback,to Fort Eriet A Thé same.

. . I left Poughkespsies:

~ o And i3 ysu tell this defenilant “hat you found‘oﬁt abou

N

a

his wife? A Yes, sir,

19

P n what iid you tell the defeniant? A I told him that the

lady there in Union Strest had told me that Hiss Hendt or
¥rs. Wendit hal died several months before that,

MR, SPIELBTRG: Tuatts all,

CROSS EXAMINATION BY M8, MIZTON:

N ¥han 4id you jo to Poughk::psie? A In the year 1913,

Q Well, is what month? A It was ab.ut June or July,
perhaz the beginning of August, I can't tell,

- -7ell, it was before S2veumber, 1513, was it not? A Per-

“aps Aurust or September, dbut it wis 1a the heisht of the

aumixr. 8e .3on that I ent thzre,

LS
0

’ ¥ It wza'in the izi:ht of the Jurasr season, was 1t not?

A Yes, sir. : .

N You speak Tnglish, io y unot? A A 1ittle, ' ‘ ‘

- Anl yo© sent t. Poughk-eyele in the suumar time? . -

- (The witneas anawers 1in Fngliah,.) ' . )

- hd Lo B .




you? A ‘What's that queetion?
(Question repeatei throurh the 1nterpreter)

"he sent me before.

"

o And ‘then he went up. there himself didn‘t he? A Then

I'aent pack and told him what I found out .

Wedl, you know that he want up azain after you went

there, don't ywu? A Y=8, he went there later,
And_thit nsa alftar you hsl gone there, wasn't 1t
o

n Now, what ls the n.me of the pserson thwt ‘you 1nquired
of in Poughksepsié? A It was either Mrs. Belna or Nrse. Meye;;
I dén‘t knov which, . I spoks %o +he laly for two hours,

n - For two hours you spoke to whui.? A ¥iith the lady in
Union Street.

Q@ And +hat numbsr in Union Stfeét? A 160 or 164,

Did you -o.Gver to the church ani spesk with she Pastor?

Did yuu‘go +5 look st the grace? A No.,
Mo" 1 juat sant an ansver to the juestien,
iﬁﬁﬂerVW;e-nﬁ, w3 it not? A Yes.
7 Did you go to the Bursau ol dealth in that City, t0

sae whather thers w.s 3 cartificate of her death? A No, I

dfidn't desm that necessary, beoause many people hal told me

+




died? _A Several people on Vain Street in Pouvhkeepeie told

,/me that
Q People thau stopﬁeu you on the street and told you that?_
A No, 1 etopped them,

Q, You stepped them on the gtreet and asked them if Mrs

Wendt was alive, 1s *hat right? A 1Mo, I didn't do that,

Yiell, now, whitrname iid you askrfor? A" For Mre,
Wendt, h
" What nam: 1id you know the deféniint under? A
ggut later,
THE DEFENDANT: = One moment, He said Lynar or
Loudon, ‘
THE COURT: Lid he say that, lir, Intarpreter?

THE INTIRPRETER:  Y-s, sir; but I didn't understand.

1t, =nd T sskel hix to repeat it. He s:id that,

-

BY UR.: MINTON: ‘
- . -~

Néw, il yiu sk for anybody in Toughkeepsis by the

‘'mame of Mrs. Loudon or “rs, Lynar? A r. Lynar hil told me
‘she . %28 1iving under h-r-maidén name,
»id the defeniant tell y u +hen-he learned that?

No, he didn't tell me?

f

n ﬂhut other name ii® y.u inow hin by”? A ’Ey‘Deichimang;

2 . Did- you asi fqr Yre, De Chiman; tn Poughkrepsie?

Lo |




he sent me Béfore

And then he ment up there himself didn't he? A Tﬁenj

;'ient back and told him what I found out .
| Wedl, you know that he ‘vent up azain after'you went
don't you? A Y:s, he ﬂentrthere later, |
And‘thitrwas aftzr y>u hzd gone there, wasn't 1%?
Forasls .
the name of the person ihdt'ycu ihquired-
of in Pouchkespsie? A It was eithzr rs. Belna or-Mrs, Meyé?l
I don't know which, = I spoke %o *he laiy for two hours.
©- For two hours ysu spoke to whsi? A ¥With the lady in
Union Street,
And rhat numbsr in Union Strest? A 180 or 164,
Dii'yey jo‘ovef to the chuﬁch ani'spéakrwith'ﬁhe Pastor’
Did‘you $0 vo look ut the grace? A VNo,
Now, I just want an anser to theiqueatien_ The

ansvYer w.s no, w13 it not? A Yes.
A}

D¥d ycu ;o-tc the Buresau of Hgalﬁh in thet City, to

866 whethelf thers wus a ocertifiocate of her death? A Wo, I

d4dn't desm that neoe @soary, besause mzny peopls hal told me




inquired-for Mre, Wendt.
BY THE COURT: =

-

Q Did he give you any desoription of Urs. Wendt? A Ye

eir; because he believed that she was alive,

BY MR, MINTON:

@ Yes, you say that he believed she was alive? A ?@e;éir

7 .Now whems 411 you first mee: the defénidnt, what part
of Germany? A 1In Hanover, the province ofrHanover.
Q Well, whap plﬁce in vaﬁover? A "In the Royel Hotel.
) ;tht were you dbihé in the Royal Hotel? A JI did thé
same thing that othe§ peopls éoming,from New York are doing,

when they have free time to spend ,

i ysu besn to New York before ysu went to Hanover?

A No, T came from Hanover to New York.

e ¥ell, what businzas vere Y>u in at the time you met

the dafeniant? A Importing and sxporting business,
-0 An. wers yiu with him all during 1894, 1899 and 19007

A No,. :nly ébbut alx rorthe I w & to_ ether with him, and’

he explained me his rlans, and 1 worked ocut the drawvinge for -

‘hia patents,

Q  Well, you s=y you only kne~ him for about sfx months .

+when you first met him, Taen 41 you next meot himp A Thén

-
- B}




P ———————
Rt it e

and’ then 1906;.

" Then I met him in 1908,

.

..q Where? \A I met him iii Kiel, in the northern part of

.

~Germany,

" Do you know where he wae from 1898 to 18067 A T believe

he was in Asia,

Q Well, now, don't you know that he was not in Asia?

A I don't know that, T

-~ An3--vhen iid you cowe to this country? A As 1 sald

before, ex:ctly, in 1911, s
1 An: the defeniant wantei you %o g0 to Poughk=epsie for

the purpose of making zrranczemsnt 3 éo that he shoﬁld go back to
ﬁith his wi;é; is that rizht? A Thatt's right.

©  Vell, but iiin't he have a wife with him -t the time

same to Amsrica? A This 15 abeolut=1ly unknown 1o ms .,

Look 2t the ricturz. of a wecran I sho® you, . Didn't he

thet wowan ws is 7ife whan he came-Srom Germany? - A I

donli know that, I mat t.2 _entlemin on 59th "Street and Fifth

Avenue

I Didn't fvu 2gy that you cume vo Am:rica #1th him?

v, 1 iiin't say that,

no Vell, w.en 31 you come o Amearica? A I came to Amer- .

i{ca in 1811...

A With whom? A With & exntlowin by




o] And from that time on you beoame his companibn or*
secretary, is that right?
a factory in Buffa}o; and he toqk-me,along,
Never mind what he 1htended. 1 didn't aak you that‘
And how 1 ng 1id y-u live Wibu him 2t 188 Convent Avenuel.

A Only the Jast four or five waeks, : -

Did 'he have ~ wife livingthsre with him? A I didn'{

see that,
w2re ysu sure that he did not?
SPIELBERG: I objact to that:
CCOURT:  Fhat is tiis oiferei forz
S :
MINTON . Yot to prove any third/ﬁarriage, of
8lr, but only on the queqtion of the probability
that he would send this man to Poughkespsie to 1Gokiup his;
Tife, with 2 vig- to rsnziing the relaticons between himgel
un i that wowan, if he had a wifﬁ living nlth him, or a

T'man.¢ivinbwith hlm a5 his wife,

THE "ITNTSS:  In “unvent Avenue I didntt

“ie livad to :ether with 2 wipan,
uS, "PIELBERG: The questi-n is vhather he lived with
n vwife or a woman, 2n. the Wwitnesa may n.t unierstand,

1t is entirely diff2-:n% in Serwan,




must confine myaelf to before 1913' I 8ed
‘BY MR MINTON-

n Where "ere youw living vefore you went to- Pou

A In Buffalo

Q Vhers in Buffale? 1 gg Yiagara Street,

Q Who else was 1iving with you there? “A tNobody, It wis

furnished room house,
©  VWere Y=u living with the Count? 4 No.
Q@ VWhers ras he iiving?:rA He was living in Fort Erie,
a) 'Who with?r Titn whom? A In Fort Erie ﬂe had a
faotorf. I céme to the factory and went to Buffalo again; )
Vikh whom w-g he living thare-» A- T believe he lived
Sor2ther with = lady, the picture of whom you ha&e showh to -
I belisvs 80,
Als wife, - 't g9 4 T don! t know that
you call‘h;r Countess or Irs ,Loudon, when ybp.
£ idrsssed haro T .
M. SPIFLBF=G:  ™n .« 4 objected to, as

antiraly imm“ 2rial,

"R, MINTON: I want to 85L0 that at the time
he had & wiaman -- )
THE COURT: Sustained,
‘BYRm.!HNWN;

It waontyt Krﬂ; O1Brian *hat he.v&a livi:d,yith ;?

o




THE COURT:. ~Sustained. ,

R Now did:-ysu go to Po‘u'ghkéepsie‘ from Fort 'Erie?_ A From'

‘Buffalo, -

AK/,, THE COURT:' In answering the juestions, witﬁess,“

look at ths jurors,

¥R, SPIELBERG: Face the jury, ir, ritness, The

Court directs you to fice the jury in testifying.

BY R, NINTON: S .

£ Now, I want to aek you 2 juestion, again, . At the

time you went to Poughkespeie, you say that the defendant, yous
A - - ° »‘

emnloyer, was 3iving with i woman whiosé ticture I showed you? =

"R, SPIELBRRG: I object to th:t as iznaterial,

itrelevant an incowpatant. T.2-¢ 13 no testimony that

re was living with her,

MR, OVINTAN: Y28, te te:tified to that,

. *R, SPIELBTRG: Vall, it derends upon what the Dig-

trict attorney m:ins,  Wau he livin_ iz her ipartment,

.. 'vas he ¥ boarder or lodz:zr, or w..8 he liviny with-
’ » her as mon =ni wife? T

o

THE COURT:  You hove oizce

evisence here showing

that the witnebs want to Poughkaspaie'to m-ke ingquisy

P

28 to thé vhareabouts of the first wife, in orier to

endeavor to reestablish rel:iti:ns Detween them,

+




ER. WINTON:  Wo, he testified to 'tAha-jt’.E"

“4THE COURT: Well, what ﬁaa’h;é.impieéeion?

¥R, SPIELBERG; I dont't know.l

“THE COURT:.‘ You have examined him‘bn that subjéaé
¥R, SPIELBERG: Eevézid'po me that he went ﬁo éqg;f

#rs. Wendt, 2nl hiz impressicn was that he wentl%hére'to

2ez 1f they could not rsestablish relaticns of man and

“wife, -

THE COURT:  Then you may inquire about that*matter’

30 a8 to olear it ﬁp.
SrIFTLBTRG

0 td'Poughkeepsie? A Mr, Lyhar.

BY THE.COURT: i

Iy

“h.% instructizn. iii y>u recaive from him as to what

u vere to o when you zot to Poughkespsie? A I should go

to Pouphkee-gie and see if I couldn't find oup whether she
was 1iving thers at the. time, wnd vhsrce Bhe.waa living, and I

should bring her buck -to Furt Lrie, )
BY I, SYIELBTRG:

AY

.Did the defen ant te' 1l y u-h.t, t bripg her back,

<v 1s that ysur idex? .. Tle s.id find out first whethér

abe lived there, ani then find out—% he—esuld—pget dn

connsation with her again,

" s




qka‘arrangemgh§a 80 that thejtahould both'get;ﬁqg the

again, i@{bther words, that he shonid,resume'his%mdfifalg

“relations with Mrs., Wendt? A Yes, 1 was to bring thém'tbéj,

.»,'ﬂ"

.

gether, -

MR, MINTON: = Yss, that's what I thought he said,

And uy question w-s directed along that line, -

Ne: : TR
0 Well, you =ay that &%t that time he was ilving with the

womzn whose plcture I Bhowed_you}— is that right? A I don't

know wheher it «wis at that time,

Q ,Weli, wa8 it before that time? A Yo, I don't beliqve i'*

% -Vell, didn't you testify thut you went from Fort Erie
and 2% the time ycu vent he was living in Fort Erie withthis-

. woman ; ;ia you say that? A No, I don't believe I sail that,
. Vell, isn't it s0? A I‘icn't believe 1t, 1 don't
believe so, - ' T
R ‘Q W11, 7hat did you 2all tiie worano’
o . N SPiELBF?G; - That ie sbjcetel to, my it pléaeel
. “he é urt, what he called'he;. )
o i TH*:COUQTE Suataimed.
N ' : P
BY T CMINTOW: : g '
) | ~ Wh;t e y:u hsar ths’'defan 2n* cqil her? {
»g » . un, éUIvLBKRS: I object to tﬁwt ~.8 Xﬁm#terial,
irrslavant nd 1hctmpa;ent. o ‘ S )




Ry

for thes purpose of

“haot pﬁrvose.

e

niatriot Attorney can the lxck of probability of . th'

Vatory teetifiea to by - thie witnesa a8 bearing on his

S ' credibility as = wipness.' This evidence is not offered
showing any mizoonduct or’ improrpriety

sn the part of the iefen&an&, and it must not be consideére

by the jury for any such purprse, 7 1t is incompetent foi

The only object of the District Attorney 1

nterrogating “he witness w1onT these lines is Yo establish'
if he ¢fn, on crsass examinatibn;_the improbability of’ther

etory of +7is witness .a bewring on his credibility as a

Titneas, Thethar he does or mot is a ma“ter for you

“o det>rmine, gentlemen of the jury.

MR, SPITLBFRG: In *hat connection, if your Honor

~lease, I submit most respsctfully that, because this

&

vwitnese sreaks a forzign l:in u-ge, ni has teatifi;;%\\““j

S throuhh an 1ntelpreter ithis fiela h-s been gone over ve

FRE - - - i

throu hly,

BY THFE -CAURT: .-

- -

to zo %o Poughkszpsiec® A In Fort Frie, -

. w. © ¥here® A In the niin etrest, whiolh runs

-

\-

éf ' , . N W S

°

f™ Wh-re was the defeniant.living when you left Fort Erié.

=leng the

rgera River, I telieve *he nune ie Naiagare Otreed.~ .-,

- Y Vnot kindqu a builain.» £ It i nias 811l couhffy




A rivate dwelling? A Yee, eir,
. e
Q Did he cooupy that building alone? A .Yes; no

people were 1iving in th&t house

I

AR, SPIFLEFRG:  Now, T submit thas he said in German

all by himgself,
THE.COURT: - ¢, the interpreter will translate it

and uhe +rwnslwtion rudt be wceepied as official, unle&é*»

you desire *o sow thit the translation is'incdrréct;

96, I =n entirely s tisfied with his

of ho” ~CMy reums S13 that house consist? A T was ver:

®eldomw in th:t house., . T balieve ther  wer- rine or “twelve
pooms,
© Lid Lz hove eny hGly w.o lived there> A There were

nbout'twelve 2irls enployed in ths factery, ani *hey were doing. -
sorre ~ork in 87ms of the rocws OT *hivt Louge, thceérf%ctOry'g rle

because the [ niory s *s0 sunall,
i “trrhe here wos ussl for £ oetony nd living pur-
dentt o wint tel vy that, o T donts zean .that,

he vog living #itL hdw in that house?
"T. CFIFLBFRG:  Thit is objectad to , m.y 1% please
*. the Oourt, ~The wiqnéqu WROVErS] thot he 7. 1livinrng there-




" THE COURT: - Well, I will allow the question

7'g§aﬁ‘t eay_that, ) It-is'iﬁéna@ible for e tagaéy t
" &ven if I'w%pféd tq,AbepéuéejI very seléom got there, and;&hbh\
ever T did go tﬁere'I‘found hiﬁ'alone, or I found ﬁimﬁwiﬁﬁihiéf
typewriter girl eni gvwo men and- the factory girls, j. B
f Well, ycu didn't live in that house, did you?. A‘ Néi.
. Do you know Whé oceupied.the bther roomg?
¥R, SPIELEFRI: I object to that as alfeady asked' 
anc. ;ﬁawered.r
Q" Tow what ﬁ‘z you mesn when you told the jury a shért': 
fime agc that ras living ith tiLis woman in Fort Ef;e?, A ; 
s&w:her snee = house, I w:~ invited tﬁere‘to dinher:* /
0 Angd .5 che tAc;e at iinnar? ALY
And 7id her .direed Ler by the name of "wife"?
. ?PITﬁBFRG: Thut is objected tz, if y;ur‘Honor
rlease, Ther. is no char e ‘L=t that w8 his wife.®
o eml orInTw: L& mut enurging thet.
‘HR; SRITLBYRG: i :n huat i.7the object of £h18

Lidree i B r s hLie "ife?  Whet are you
: : ) inetead-,
tryin; to 20? ° Tryin_ #o jreve this non &-mondg&miat/of

~ueston, df he

N polygemist?
THE 0AURT:  No, that io not the point, It 18 not
for the tbr;ode of havin., the jury conai&é{rthe :

amme ¢ bewrini. on any esct of injropriety on the part of

Ld €




the defendant and a wowan in Pou:hkeepsie

is whether heAheld this woman out zs his wife.

the péinte,

¥R, SPIELBFRG: All right, I have no ije

Let him znsvwer the guestion,

LY 4

i

I will withdraw the

. MINTOU:

guestion,

BY MF, UIWTOL:

QO Dia

A Vo, I did't hzar what naue he called her, and
. > - »

dresced her,

“er:n't ycu thre 2t linnar? A Yes, air

you h2ar what he called herwhen he -spoke to

how he

and the queetion

Th&t is

gtion,

31d he call her wife,

her?

ad- -

Q vAn. who =lse w.s t Girner besides yourself and the
woran? R <; .
"R, CPIELBTRG: 'Oﬁjected to ao &mmaterial, irrele-
- vyent and inconpe{ent. .
; TYE COURT:  Sustained. - 0
g e G- Vessit Cdinnar dn the evening? A Ro, 1t was noon time,
- A ﬁ‘ Anﬁriqa that befdxe or ~ltar y)ﬁ h:? teen to pough=- . ’
keepgie to look ﬁp “re. Arnold or Mre. Venat? A It wus beforé.
v ™ Yeo, lov n.nytines il you ;eé‘thia w@h&n there in
the houseiﬁefore you vent ‘o Pouhhkegpaie° .
i UR, SPIELBFRG tatias object to; my 1¢ pleaue'
B o s,
- s




‘Ovérrgled;: »
A,;T%fhaps fhfee or four timeb;’ﬁhenrit:hébﬁenéd“thé‘
-brought some books frqgrthe'factbry oVe¥ to hiapriyate hthe
iaa& hex, ' |
Q@ Did he intfoduce you to‘£er? A To.
Q@ WVell, wren yoq'brgu;ﬁf the books over, what did yoﬁ
8ay? ¥hat 5 iryou ¢21l her? “
MR, SPIELBERG: That is objected to, may i% please
the Court. ‘ 7‘
THE COURT:  Sustained, what he snid to her.
. MINTON:
Q What “i he sver eﬁy to you about her?
¥R, SPIELB™RG: Sbjected to,

THIT COURT: Ove ruled.

YR, CPIFLBFRG:  Txcertion.

A T hal npu time &t all to tak abous thsse private matters

We had ‘o much to 4o in the factony, .
~ Well, 3i:n't-he everréay anytzing to y.u about this lady,

.- .-

*ho wus in the h-{lue there on several oocasionsg
. e

'

"R, SOIFLBIRG: T object to that,
THY. 7~URET: Overrulej,
TR, STIFLBRIC Ixoerption,

A e onlj tol her, the first time r~hen I ocame,

to me, "This- 18 Mr;'Albero! my bookkeepsr,®

. Vo




Her, "Miis is my bookkeeper, lr, Albers"? - WHat atd he ‘8&y

gshe.was? A He only sald, "Mr. Albers", referring to me,
She w=s in the house when you came? A Yes, sir.":

And did you.ever hear him speak of her'as‘CounteBé?.

Did he ever tell vcu her name? A No,
Did ycu ever ask him her name? A Yes, R
What iid he ‘eay? A Before I answer, I will have to .

L

explein scmething,

Q Yo, I want to know wiat he told you her name was when’

you zsked him, A He told we her name; 1% was the first.
nume; and I was impre-sed thut it was his housekeeper.

MR. TINT"N: T ask that that be stricken out, his.

imprecsion,
THE CQUET: Tenied,

LINTON B
o You Tarc oimprsloed was Lis housekeeper?

Yes, thie I thought, _
N ’ 7 7, - - .
L Yo, how lon: 1~ che live there e "is housekeeper,-

do ycu know? A . I can't say, I dcn'p‘know. She waen‘y

1iving taer occntinuously, She only cameé thexr~ on 2 vislt,

G VWao ahe 1iving thers at the tire the Jefrniant went to

Albion? A I don't heliecve so,




to oome there o s vislt '*fromﬂinxe_ to%biﬁie;“

Wis there at the time the deféﬁ@ant went to Albion,

Q Well,'yoﬂrthoﬁght gshe was a'kin¢ of a vieitingrhouaéfﬂ

keepzr, did you? A Yes, that's what I thought,

. ER. SPIELBERG: The Defense rests.




SEPH A, BAKFR,  being recalléd by the District Attorney

Tt testified as followse: ~ -~

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MINTOK:

Q . Were you present in Court when & centleman named Mr,

=)

RN

‘Ber:, who was sitting at that table_(indicating),itestifibdt

A Yes, sir,

0 Did you ever ;o to Lr. Berg's office? A I never was

in lr. Berg's office.

CROSE TXAMINATINN BY W5, SPIRLBFRG:

D17 you t21 *o ¢ ol Y-, cnoe, in the Tombs,

Lid he ive yiu scwe papers? A No, eir

.
X

Dii you .« for.suume paperst A No, sir,
Did send sone gwpers? A Yo, sir,
You never got- any papers.from !r, Bers? A No, sir,

Anc. ycu only opeke to nim ~nce, in the Tombs? A I past
hiﬁ, after I talke:i with the defeniant, Ibealled at the-Témb87
to get from him the : sé;ort;‘bui ie 5 id he didn't have it at
hoﬁe {ﬁgrniﬁﬂt he = arrested, A3 I left the Toqbé,‘gbing to

the zate, to _o cut, T passed "I Ber;,,=nd scme attendant in

the Tombhes told me the: the n I %.c pussing was the- defendant's
lavyer,

THUE CHURT: .

anover t6 “he questicn, Mr, Witneas,




<

MINTON: That is the ‘People's oase,
COURT: - Recall the Wwitness Otto Albers,

- SPIELBERG: - I understand that he has gone &ftay,

COURT:  Where has he gone? Get himdbaok, B

CAPTAIN: He doesn't answer,

MR. "PIFLBFRG:  He Zoesn't live i:\fé; City just now,

I just got him into town specizlly,
THE- COURT: Very well. It is all right, Proceed

to sum up,

YR, SPIELBERG: Ghall I sum up, this morning?

THE COURT: Yes, yoﬂ hé§§ 8%111 h:1f an hour beforé
the recess hour,

¥r, Cpielbar. then'bggan to sum up, )

™, SPITLBFRS: I now desire to offer in evidence a

cari&in paper xhich T have in my hand,

o

¥R, MINTON: I cbject to it It doesn't seem to be

competent, -~ -
- uR, SPIFLBTRG: I subuit i+ is competent. Nr, Berg:

.1d that he turned over froiw & man from the Tepartment of

Justice the papers whick he sent %o lir, Baker, at !r, Baker's

request, a man namel fcully, ws t is receip: fbrithe

of lr,

—pupera,eﬁowa."'lt;is vritten on the office Faper

ve




":Irwill'adm;p 1t:l,

(It 15 warked Defendent's Exhibit-A,) . .

'(M:;ASpielbéfgxﬁhen resumed his summing up.)

(AYy the cldse of the summing.up of ¥r. Spilelberg 6f
Yr, Spieiberg} the Court tock 3 recess until ten minutes

after two o'clock, having =dm-nished. the jury in

accordance with Secticn 415 of the .Code of Criminal

Procedure.)




